Department of Clinical Chemistry University of Helsinki

mRNA-expression-based classification of solid tumors

Development of accurate amplification-based quantification techniques

Jakob Stenman, M.D.

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented for public examination with the permission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki in Auditorium 2 of the Biomedicum Helsinki on June 14, 2002, at 12 o'clock noon.

Helsinki 2002

Supervisors Docent Arto Orpana, Ph.D. Departments of Clinical Chemistry and Medical Genetics Helsinki University Central Hospital University of Helsinki Professor Aarno Palotie, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine University of California, Los Angeles Reviewers Professor Niklas Dahl, M.D., Ph.D. The Rudbeck Laboratory Department of Genetics and Pathology Uppsala University Docent Tapio Visakorpi, M.D., Ph.D. Laboratory of Cancer Genetics Institute of Medical Technology University of Tampere

Opponent Professor Ann-Christine Syvänen, Ph.D. Department of Medical Sciences – Molecular Medicine Uppsala University

ISBN 952-91-4693-0 (print) ISBN 952-10-0578-5 (pdf) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi

Yliopistopaino Helsinki, 2002

To Annika, Sam and Oskar

CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6
Abbreviations	7
Abstract	8
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	9
1. Introduction	9
2. Head and neck cancer102.1 Overview102.2 Etiology102.3 Molecular basis of oncogenesis12.4 Treatment strategies12.5 Pathological classification1	0 0 1 2
3. Cancer of the uterine cervix 1 3.1 Overview 1 3.2 Etiology 1 3.3 Molecular basis of oncogenesis 1 3.4 Screening and treatment strategies 1 3.5 Pathological classification 1	334455
4. Squamous cell carcinoma antigen 10 4.1 Overview 10 4.2 Genes and proteins 10 4.3 Expression and distribution 10 4.4 Pathophysiological role 12	6 6 6 8
5. Techniques for measurement of mRNA-expression 14 5.1 Strategies for quantification of mRNA expression in malignant cells 14 5.2 mRNA detection techniques 14 5.2.1 Hybridization on solid supports and gene expression profiling 19 5.2.2 Homogeneous hybridization assays 22 5.2.3 Enzyme dependent detection assays 22 5.3 Amplification techniques 24 5.3.1 Competitive RT-PCR 24 5.3.2 Kinetic RT-PCR 24 5.3.3 In situ PCR 24 5.3.4 Isothermal RNA amplification 27 5.3.5 Probe amplification techniques 24	889922445556

Aims of the present study	. 28
Materials and methods	. 29
1. Patients and samples	. 29
1.1 Blood samples	. 29
1.2 Tissue samples	. 29
1.3 Cultured cells	. 29
1.4 Patient and follow-up characteristics	. 29
Detection and quantification of SCCA mRNA transcripts	. 30
2.1 RNA extraction procedures	. 30
2.2 Primer design, verification of PCR products and end-point detection	. 30
2.3 Internal standard construction	. 31
2.4 Measurement of SCCA protein	. 32
3. Statistical analyses	. 32
3.1 Evaluation of the SCCA mRNA ratio assay	. 32
3.2 Estimates on sampling variation at low template concentrations	. 32
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	. 33
1. Design of the RT-PCR assay for accurate quantification of relative	
transcript levels	. 33
1.1 Principles for detection and quantification of SCCA mRNA levels	. 33
1.2 Measuring range	. 35
1.3 Quantitative accuracy	. 35
1.4 Stochastic considerations	. 36
2. Clinical observations	. 37
2.1 Detection of SCCA mRNA in peripheral blood	. 37
2.2 Relative levels of SCCA2 and SCCA1 mRNA in head and	
neck tumor biopsies	. 38
Summary and conclusions	. 40
Acknowledgements	. 41
References	. 43

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS I–V

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Stenman J, Lintula S., Hotakainen K, Vartiainen J, Lehvaslaiho H and Stenman UH. Detection of squamous-cell carcinoma antigen-expressing tumour cells in blood by reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction in cancer of the uterine cervix. Int J Cancer 1997; 74: 75–80.
- II a Stenman J, Finne P, Stahls A, Grenman R, Stenman UH, Palotie A and Orpana A. Accurate determination of relative messenger RNA levels by RT-PCR. Nat Biotechnol 1999; 17: 720–2.
- II b Stenman J, Finne P, Stahls A, Grenman R, Stenman UH, Palotie A and Orpana A. Supplement to: Accurate determination of relative messenger RNA levels by RT-PCR. Nat Biotechnol 19991; 17: web extra.
- III Stenman J, Hedstrom J, Grenman R, Leivo I, Finne P, Palotie A and Orpana A. Relative levels of SCCA2 and SCCA1 mRNA in primary tumors predicts recurrent disease in squamous cell cancer of the head and neck. Int J Cancer 2001; 95: 39–43.
- IV Stenman and Orpana A. Accuracy in amplification. Nat Biotechnol 2001; 19:1011–2.
- V Stenman J, Lintula S, Rissanen O, Finne P, Hedstrom J, Palotie A and Orpana A. Quantitative detection of low-copynumber messenger RNAs differing at single nucleotide positions. Submitted.

Abbreviations

3SR	self-sustained sequence replication
AMV	avian myeloblastosis virus
ASCUS	squamous cells of undetermined significance
ASO	allele-specific oligonucleotide
ATCC	American type culture collection
cat G -K, -L, and -S	cathepsins G -K, -L, and -S
CDK	cyclin dependent kinase
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CI	confidence interval
CIN	cervical intraepithelial neoplasia
СРМ	counts per minute
CV	coefficient of variation
DEPC	diethylpyrocarbonate
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
EDTA	ethylene diamine acetic acid
FIGO	international federation of gynecology and obstetrics
FRET	fluorescent resonance energy transfer
HGSIL	high grade squamous intraepithelial lesion
НМС	human mast cell chymase
HPV	human papilloma virus
ISH	in situ hybridization
LCR	ligase chain reaction
LGSIL	low grade squamous intraepithelial lesion
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
NASBA	nucleic acid sequence-based amplification
NK-cell	natural killer cell
nt	nucleotide
Рар	Papanicolaou (-smear / screening)
PBS	phosphate-buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
pRb	retinoblastoma protein
RCA	rolling circle amplification
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RSL	reactive site loop
RT-PCR	reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction
SAGE	serial analysis of gene expression
SCCA	squamous cell carcinoma antigen
serbin	serine proteinase inhibitor
TAS	transcription-based amplification system
TNM	tumor–node–metastasis
VLP	virus-like particle
	······ F······

Abstract

The aim of this study was to utilize molecular biology techniques to develop novel prognostic methods for the management of solid tumors. Squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck region and the uterine cervix have served as model diseases for this purpose.

In the early stages of this study we developed a sensitive non-quantitative assay for detecting occult epithelial cells in the circulation of patients with cancer of the uterine cervix, based on detection of squamous cell carcinoma antigen mRNA in peripheral blood. With this technique we were able to detect circulating cells in 6 out of 15 patients and in two pregnant women at term. The low level of target template in the blood samples, however, resulted in uncontrolled variability and we turned the focus to developing accurate techniques for quantification of gene expression in microscopic tissue sections. This led to the development of an RT-PCR based technique for accurate quantification of the relative levels of the highly homologous SCCA1 and SCCA2 mRNAs occurring in biopsy specimens of tumor tissue and normal epithelium.

The relative levels of SCCA1 and SCCA2 mRNA in squamous cell tumors of the head and neck region was demonstrated to correlate with tumor types displaying an aggressive behavior as well as with the recurrence free survival of the patients. The consistent but subtle variations in the relative levels of the SCCA genes were beyond the quantitative accuracy of the most commonly used tech-

niques for mRNA quantification. Our results suggest that the ratio of SCCA2 to SCCA1 mRNA is a potential prognostic molecular marker in head and neck cancer. As the number of patient samples with available follow up data was limited in our study, the clinical applicability of this novel marker remains to be verified.

A mathematical algorithm was developed in order to estimate the degree of variation caused by stochastic factors in techniques striving to quantify molecules in highly diluted solutions. The algorithm was tested empirically using a highly optimized competitive RT-PCR based assay to quantify relative levels of rare mRNAs at different sensitivity levels. We were able to show that sampling variation accounts for a major part of the inaccuracy associated with highly sensitive amplification and detection techniques.

In conclusion, we have been able to show that highly accurate amplification based mRNA quantification can be achieved by comparing the levels of closely related transcripts to each other. This concept was demonstrated using a competitive RT-PCR system with end-point detection. The technique as such is unlikely to be directly applied as a tool for mRNA based grading in the future due to the relatively complicated methodology. The concept of relative quantification of closely related mRNA:s is however readily applicable to a real-time PCR setup as well as to other amplification and detection technologies.

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1. INTRODUCTION

In the process of carcinogenesis, accumulation of multiple successive genetic alterations eventually lead to the development of malignant cells lacking normal mechanisms of cellular control. In a healthy individual, a sophisticated surveillance system that repairs potential carcinogenic mutations or alternatively destines affected cells for apoptosis prevents accumulation of successive carcinogenic mutations in the same cell. Mutations that target some part of this surveillance system, thereby partly inactivating it, can however, result in an accelerated rate of uncorrected mutations, and subsequently to the development of cancer [Fearon, 1990]. Such mutations affect one of two major cellular functions, namely the control of cell proliferation or DNA proofreading and repair. In addition there are a vast amount of genes involved in normal physiologic processes that in a malignant environment can supply tumors with beneficial properties. Expression of genes involved in angio- and lymphangiogenesis, cellular adhesion, proteolytic degradation and defense against immunological surveillance provides subsets of malignant cells or cell clones with a selection advantage during the process of carcinogenesis. The accumulation of a pattern of expressed genes that favor the tumors potential for expansion, invasion and metastatic spread eventually leads to an aggressive behavior of the tumor. The expression of such genes and the resulting expression profiles of malignant cells provides the targets for molecular characterization and classification of cancer.

At present, pathological diagnosis and classification of human neoplasia is based on recognition of histological features, with im-

munophenotyping and other molecular techniques serving as ancillary methods. A combination of pathological classification and clinical criteria are used to distinguish prognostically distinct classes and subclasses of tumors in clinical settings [Alizadeh, 2001]. Due to the variation in the clinical behavior of cancers within the currently accepted classifications, predictions of response to treatment and clinical outcome are in many cases inaccurate on the individual level. The discovery of new molecular markers for classification of malignant disease has been accelerated by the development of DNA microarray technology. Array generated expression profiles have been successfully used to define novel cellular pathways and biologically-distinguishable tumor sub-categories [Alon, 1999; Ross, 2000; Perou, 2000; Bittner, 2000; Hedenfalk, 2001]. The vast amount of expression data produced by microarray techniques enables development of new clinical test for monitoring genes involved in the control of specific cellular functions. Novel mRNA expression based tests are likely to be integrated with already established techniques to enable a novel classification of human malignancies in order to guide specific treatment of individual patients.

We have developed techniques to measure the mRNA expression of the serum tumor marker squamous cell carcinoma antigen genes SCCA1 and SCCA2, and studied the expression of these genes in squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck region and in the uterine cervix. Both cancer forms evolve from mucosal squamous epithelial cells, but result in widely different disease patterns and outcome. In head and neck cancer a high mortal-

Jakob Stenman

ity rate combined with significant morbidity caused by aggressive treatment protocols generates a need for new predictive techniques that would aid clinicians in determining the optimal treatment strategy for individual patients. The disease pattern of cervical cancer differs significantly from that of head and neck cancer as cytological screening has led to early diagnosis in developed countries and the majority of cases can be cured by radical therapy. The need for prognostic indicators in this type of cancer is restricted to the subgroup of patients in which cellular atypia of undetermined significance is found in cytological screening.

2. Head and neck cancer

2.1 Overview

An estimated 860.000 new cases of head and neck cancer was diagnosed in 1990 [Parkin, 1999] making it the seventh most common form of cancer in the world. Of these new cases 634.000 were diagnosed in men and 228.000 in women. Head and neck cancer includes squamous cell carcinomas arising from the mucous membranes lining the upper aerodigestive tract. This area comprises the lip, the oral and nasal cavities, the paranasal sinuses, the larynx, and pharynx [Clayman, 1996]. (fig. 1) Carcinomas of the salivary glands and nasopharynx are considered distinct etiologic groups of head and neck cancer. Other tumors of this region including skin, brain, ocular and infrequent sarcomas and lymphomas are considered as separate entities [Vokes, 1993]. Patients with stage I or II disease generally undergo either surgery or radiotherapy with curative intent. Over 80% of patients presenting with stage I disease and over 60% of those with stage II will be cured [Vokes, 1993]. Patients presenting with stage III-IV local or regionally advanced disease will typically receive sequential radiotherapy and extensive radical surgery including a neck dissection. Fewer than 40% of these patients achieve 2year disease free survival and different combinations of chemotherapy with the standard regimens are used in order to achieve organ preservation and prolonged survival in specified settings [Clayman, 1996]. Mortality in

head and neck cancer is mainly due to primary treatment failure or to locoregional recurrent disease in patients initially reaching remission [Vokes, 1993].

2.2 Etiology

Squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck is a heterogeneous disease with distinct patterns of presentation and behavior. The majority of head and neck cancers are associated with heavy consumption of tobacco and alcohol [Vokes, 1993]. Many of the patients present with multiple foci of cancerous or precancerous cells, so-called field cancerization [Slaughter, 1953], throughout the upper aerodigestive tract. Molecular data has provided evidence of the causal role of these substances in the process of head and neck carcinogenesis [Brennan, 1995]. A feature typically affecting this group of patients is second primary tumors which develop at an annual rate of 4-7% of all head and neck cancer patients irrespectively of the result of the primary treatment. These new and potentially fatal cancers typically evolve in the anatomical regions of smoking-related carcinogenesis and in the bladder. Two different types of viral infections have been linked to the etiology of head and neck cancer. More than half of the squamous cell carcinomas arising in the oropharynx contain DNA of human papilloma virus (HPV) [Gillison, 2000]. It is thought that HPV-positive oropharyngeal tumors



Figure 1. Sagittal section of the upper aerodigestive tract. Squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck evolves from the epithelium lining the lip, the oral and nasal cavities, the paranasal sinuses, the larynx, and the pharynx. (Adapted from Vokes EE et al. Head and neck cancer. NEJM 1993; 328: 184–94.)

comprise a distinct disease entity initially caused at least in part by an HPV infection. Nasopharyngeal carcinoma represents a distinct entity of head and neck cancers which has been strongly linked to Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection [Chien, 2001; Lo, 1999; Shotelersuk, 2000]. This type of head and neck cancer, often presenting with poorly differentiated or undifferentiated histology, is endemic in northern Africa and many Asian populations and differs from squamous cell carcinoma of other sites in the head and neck. In this type of disease the rates of local control are typically high but the development of distant metastases is common and often lethal.

2.3 Molecular basis of oncogenesis

Chromosomal alterations linked to head and neck cancer have suggested specific genetic regions to be involved in the early development of this type of cancer.

The most common genetic change is loss of the chromosomal region 9p21 which is an early event in the progression of these tumors. Deletion of 9p21 results in loss of the Ink4a/ ARF locus and subsequently to inactivation of the p16INK4a and ARF proteins. p16 and ARF are both involved in a complex signaling network regulating and interconnecting the activities of RB protein and p53 [Sherr, 2001]. p16 is important in regulating the cell cycle through inhibition of cyclin dependent kinase (CDK) [Kamb, 1994; Reed, 1996] and keratinocytes in culture have been shown to escape senescence as a result of lost p16 function [Papadimitrakopoulou, 1997; Munro, 1999]. p53 is mutated in more than 50% of all human cancers [Sherr, 2001] and correspondingly approximately half of all head and neck cancers contain a mutation of the p53 gene. The loss of p53 function results in a progression from preinvasive to invasive lesions and increases the likelihood of further genetic progression.[Boyle, 1993; Hartwell, 1994; Koch, 1996]. In about one third of the tumors the oncogene cyclin D1 is amplified resulting in constitutive activation of cell cycle progression. Cyclin D1 amplification has been associated with invasive disease [Berenson, 1989; Callender, 1994; Jares, 1994]. On the contrary no tumor suppressor genes have been directly linked to the chromosomal regions most commonly lost [Nawroz, 1994; Ah-See, 1994].

2.4 Treatment strategies

New treatment strategies have succeeded in improving quality of life through conservation of organ function, such as swallowing and speech as well as minimizing cosmetic handicap. These strategies include surgical techniques for preservation of laryngeal function, selective neck dissection and reconstruction of tissue defects. Hyperfractionation of radiotherapy allowing escalation of the total dose by minimizing damage to normal cells and accelerated fractionation protocols shortening the duration of therapy and thereby reducing the potential for tumor repopulation between fractions, have been tested in phase III clinical trials. These have documented a 10-15% improvement in local control in stage II-IV patients, however, without a significant increase in overall survival [Forastiere, 2001]. Induction chemotherapy followed by radiotherapy has become a standard treatment in advanced cancer of the larynx and has resulted in preservation of a functional larynx in about half of the cases [The Department of Veterans

Affairs Laryngeal Study Group, 1991; Lefebvre, 1996]. Concurrent chemotherapy and radiotherapy has been shown to be an effective alternative for selected patients with oropharyngeal, nasopharyngeal and locally advanced unresectable tumors of various origins. The role of adjuvant chemotherapy for high risk patients initially reaching remission is currently under evaluation [Forastiere, 2001]. Promising novel therapies targeted specifically to patients with head and neck cancers include the epidermal growth factor-receptor antagonists CDK inhibitors and replication competent adenoviruses. Monoclonal antibodies against epidermal growth factor receptor, which is overexpressed in over 90% of head and neck cancers, have been shown to inhibit cell proliferation mediated through autocrine and paracrine pathways by blocking ligand binding [Mendelsohn, 1997; Grandis, 1998]. Small molecule drugs based on this finding have reached phase I and II trials. Replicationcompetent adenoviruses have been developed that selectively replicate in and cause lysis of p53 deficient cells [Heise, 1997; Heise, 1999]. For the time being aggressive surgical resection remains the cornerstone of therapy in head and neck cancer [Forastiere, 2001].

2.5 Pathological classification

Staging of head and neck cancer has changed very little over the passed decade [Forastiere, 2001; Vokes, 1993]. Traditional staging systems including TNM classification determined by clinical examination, imaging procedures and surgical findings, histological grade and clinical patient characteristics only weakly predict the outcome of treated individuals [Forastiere, 2001]. A variety of serum tumor markers including SCCA, CEA, CA 19-9, sialic acid and ferritin have been evaluated for detecting occult malignancy and monitoring treatment of head and neck cancer. None of these have however reached widespread clinical use due to lack of sensitivity and specificity [Rassekh, 1994]. Serial postoperative measurements of squamous cell carcinoma antigen (SCCA) is being used in some centers for early detection of recurrent disease [Snyderman, 1995; Lara, 1995]. Several other parameters have been proposed including new imaging techniques and identification of sentinel nodes by lymphoscintigraphy [Alex, 2000; Koch, 1998]. Genetic changes in the form of loss of heterozygosity [Rosin, 2000], allelic imbalance [Partridge, 2000] and nuclear DNA ploidy [Sudbo, 2001] have been used to characterize early head and neck cancer lesions. Mutations in the p53 gene have been used to detect residual cancer cells in tissue margins at the periphery of the tumor [Brennan, 1995]. Detection of occult epithelial cells in lymph nodes has been accomplished by detecting p53 mutations [Par-

tridge, 2000] as well as tissue specific expression of MET [Cortesina, 2000] and SCCA [Hamakawa, 1999] genes. Molecular techniques have also been used to determine the relation between a primary tumor and subsequent lesions [Leong, 1998; Califano, 1999] in order to aid clinicians in determining whether to treat a second primary lesion aggressively or to settle for palliative treatment in the case of distant metastatic disease. Despite that many of the new molecular techniques for characterization and classification of head and neck cancer have been shown to provide predictive information on the risk of disease recurrence, none so far have reached widespread clinical practice.

3. CANCER OF THE UTERINE CERVIX

3.1 Overview

Cervical cancer was diagnosed in 371.000 new cases in 1990 [Parkin, 1999]. It is the second most common cancer in women worldwide. Almost 80% of the cases occur in developing countries where cervical cancer accounts for 15% of cancers in women. The incidence and mortality in cervical cancer have decreased substantially in most developed countries due to long-standing Papanicolaou (Pap) screening programs [Parkin, 2001]. Approximately 80% of cervical cancers are squamous cell carcinomas, while 20% are mixed, adenomatous or metastatic to the cervix [DiSaia, 1997]. The most important cause of cervical cancer is human papilloma virus (HPV) infection [zur Hausen, 1976; Boshart, 1984], and HPV DNA can be found in the vast majority of tumors and intraepithelial lesions [Cannistra, 1996]. When detected at an early stage, cervical cancer is largely a curable disease. Microinvasive stage IA1 disease has less than a 1% risk of lymph node spread and can thus be effectively

treated by hysterectomy or cervical conization, yielding nearly 100% cure rates [National Institutes of Health Consensus Development Conference statement on cervical cancer., 1997]. Early forms of invasive disease (stage IA2–IIA) are treated by surgery alone or in combination with external beam or intracavitary radiotherapy. Five-year disease free survival rates of 80-90% have been reported for this group of patients. Locally advanced (stage IIB, III and IVA) disease has been mainly treated with radiotherapy resulting in survival rates of 65%, 40% and less than 20% respectively [Cannistra, 1996]. (fig. 2) The combination of chemo- and radiotherapy as a standard regimen for treatment has significantly improved survival rates in these groups [Whitney, 1999; Morris, 1999; Rose, 1999; Keys, 1999; Peters, 2000], however long-term follow up data is still lacking. Adenocarcinoma has a poorer prognosis at every stage compared to squamous cell carcinoma, and the prognosis of adenosquamous cancer is poorer still [Canavan, 2000].



Figure 2. Algorithm for managing micro-invasive or invasive cervical cancer. (Adapted from Cannistra SA and Niloff JM. Cancer of the uterine cervix. NEJM 1996; 334: 1030–8.)

3.2 Etiology

The human papillomavirus (HPV) plays a central role in the etiology of cervical cancers. More than 95% of these cancers have been shown to harbor HPV DNA. [Bosch, 1995; Ngelangel, 1998; Chichareon, 1998; Walboomers, 1999]. HPV is a doublestranded DNA tumor virus ubiquitous in higher vertebrates. Of the more than 100 characterized types of HPV capable of affecting humans at least 25 infect the genital tract [Janicek, 2001]. Low-risk varieties of HPV are associated with viral condyloma or mild dysplastic changes in the cervical epithelium which rarely progress into invasive disease. In contrast high-risk variants of HPV such as types 16, 18, 31, 33 and 35 are often observed in association with moderate to severe dysplasia and carcinoma in situ as well as in invasive cancer [Crum, 1984; Koutsky, 1992; Crum, 1985; Willett, 1989; Howley, 1991]. Other risk factors for cervical cancer include smoking, immunosuppression, young age at first intercourse, high number of sexual partners, high parity and low socioeconomic status [Cannistra, 1996; Janicek, 2001]. Of these risk factors most are linked to sexual behavior and an increased risk of acquiring HPV. Smoking has consistently been shown to be an independent risk factor and even passive smoking has been associated with an increased risk of specifically squamous cell carcinomas, but not with adenocarcinomas or adenosquamous carcinomas [Brinton, 1986; Slattery, 1989]. HIV infection is associated with a higher incidence of cervical dysplasia, more multifocal lesions, more rapid progression and higher recurrence rates when compared with HIV-negative women [Maiman, 1993; Klein, 1994]. HIVpositive women with invasive cancer also tend to present with advanced stage disease, have resistance to therapy and a shortened survival [Rellihan, 1990; Maiman, 1993]. There has however been no consistently documented rise in the incidence of invasive cervical carcinomas in HIV-infected women [Janicek, 2001].

3.3 Molecular basis of oncogenesis

The molecular basis for oncogenesis in the majority of cervical cancers is explained by the function of viral oncogenes E6 and E7 which are integral structures of the HPV-family of viruses [Howley, 1991; Scheffner, 1991]. The gene product of E6 has been shown to induce degradation of resident p53 protein by binding to it [Werness, 1990; Scheffner, 1990]. Inactivation of p53 through either E6 binding or mutation is a central component in the process of malignant transformation in cervical cancer, and p53 has been shown to be mutated in the minority of cervical cancers not infected with HPV [Scheffner, 1991; Park, 1994]. E7 targets another closely related tumor suppressor gene product, the retinoblastoma protein (pRb) by binding to it and changing its phosphorylation state [Munger,

1989; Dyson, 1989]. Phosphorylation of pRb disrupts its ability to suppress E2F transcription factor and cell cycle progression into Sphase is accelerated [Sherr, 2001]. HPV types are stratified into, low- intermediate- and high-risk categories based on their association with high grade and invasive cervical lesions [Syrjanen, 1988; Lorincz, 1992]. The highrisk HPV types exhibit greater inactivation of p53 and RB and a single amino acid difference has been shown to be critical for the different binding affinities for RB [Heck, 1992]. Certain loci of the human leukocyte antigens (HLA) or major histocompatibility antigens has been associated with specific types of HPV in cervical cancers [Ellis, 1995; Allen, 1996]. Interactions of HPV with specific histocompatibility antigens might explain the differences in patterns of progression to invasive disease in patients infected with the same HPV type [Janicek, 2001].

3.4 Screening and treatment strategies

The widespread screening programs based on Pap-smear cytology have reduced the incidence and mortality from cervical cancer by up to 60-80% in some developed countries [Miller, 2000]. The age limits for initiation and discontinuation of screening as well as the screening frequency varies somewhat in different countries [Sawaya, 2001]. New screening techniques include liquid-based cytology collection and analysis [Payne, 2000]. Computerized analysis of Pap-smears [Colgan, 1995; Ashfaq, 1995; Brown, 1999] and HPV testing [ALTS Group, 2000; Schiffman, 2000; Solomon, 2001]. Ablative treatment for microinvasive and early invasive forms of cervical cancer is associated with excellent results and has changed little over the last decades. Combination of chemotherapy to radiotherapy and surgery in locally advanced and high-risk early stage disease seems to bring about an increase in overall survival in these patient groups. Novel preventive treatment strategies such as development of vaccines against the most prevalent high-risk HPV types could theoretically prevent more than 300.000 cervical cancer cases per year worldwide [zur Hausen, 2001]. Presently a number of pharmaceutical companies as well as research laboratories are engaged in preclinical and clinical trials of vaccines against high-risk HPV strains. Most approaches are based on viruslike particles (VLP) representing structural proteins L1 or L1 and L2 of papillomaviruses [Zhou, 1991; Zhou, 1992; Zhang, 2000]. The first published report after conclusion of phase I immunogenicity and safety trials on a HPV16 L1 VLP vaccine [Harro, 2001; zur Hausen, 2001] has shown very promising results being highly immunogenic and well tolerated.

3.5 Pathological classification

The Bethesda classification is the most widely used cytologic classification of Pap-smears [Shingleton, 1995; 1989; Kurman; 1991]. Abnormal findings are categorized into low grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (LGSIL), high grade intraepithelial lesions (HGSIL) and squamous cells of undetermined significance (ASCUS). Corresponding classifications also exist for glandular lesions. When cytologic abnormalities are reported, colposcopy is performed to permit visualization and biopsy of the lesion. Biopsy findings are classified as cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) I, II or III corresponding to mild, moderate and severe dysplasia or carcinoma in situ. The staging system for cervical cancer is based on clinical criteria according to the international federation of gynecology and obstetrics staging system (FIGO) [Creasman, 1995]. Serum marker squamous cell carcinoma antigen (SCCA) has been widely used for monitoring patients treated for advanced cervical squamous cell cancer for early detection of relapses [Brioschi, 1991] and HPV typing of cytology specimen has been shown to provide additional prognostic information to samples classified as ASCUS [Manos, 1999; Solomon, 2001; Hildesheim, 2001]. These groups of patients would benefit from additional prognostic parameters to alleviate determination of optimal follow up and treatment strategies.

4. Squamous cell carcinoma antigen

4.1 Overview

Squamous cell carcinoma antigen (SCCA) is the major component of the TA-4 antigen complex originally isolated from metastatic cervical squamous cell carcinoma tissue [Kato, 1977]. The 14 isoforms of the protein ranging from 42 to 48 kDa were initially grouped into a neutral (pI 6.3-6.6) and an acidic (pI 5.9-6.2) fraction on the basis of their isoelectric points [Kato, 1984]. The neutral and acidic isoforms of SCCA have been shown to be coded by separate genes and have been named SCCA1 and SCCA2 respectively [Schneider, 1995]. Both forms of SCCA are expressed in normal and malignant squamous epithelium [Crombach, 1989; Cataltepe, 2000] but the increased serum levels of SCCA observed in cancer patients is thought to be mainly attributed to increased levels of SCCA2 [Kato, 1984]. The commercially available immunoassay for SCCA (IMx SCC kit, Abbott Laboratories Inc., Abbott Park, IL) does not discriminate between the SCCA isoforms but has reached widespread clinical use as a serum marker in the management of squamous cell carcinoma of the uterine cervix and to some extent in head and neck cancer. The detection limit of this microparticle enzyme immunoassay (MEIA) based method is 0.3 μ g/l and the upper reference limit for healthy subjects is 2.5 μ g/l. It has been mainly used for monitoring response to therapy and for early detection of relapses [Fuith, 1988; Senekjian, 1987]. The pretreatment levels of SCCA have been shown to correlate mainly with tumor size [Brioschi, 1991] and the prognostic value of pretreatment measurements is being debated [Duk, 1996; Bolger, 1997].

4.2 Genes and proteins

The SCCA1 and SCCA2 genes are tandemly arrayed on chromosome 18q21.3 [Schneider,

1995; Kuwano, 1995]. (fig. 3) The SCCA genes belong to the ovalbumin family of serine proteinase inhibitors (serpins) [Suminami, 1991] and they are flanked by two other closely related serpins, plasminogen activator inhibitor type 2 (PAI2) and maspin. The exon sequences of the SCCA genes display 98% homology, whereas the predicted amino acid sequences are 92% homologous. Recombinant SCCA2 functions as a classical serpin inhibitor of chymotrypsin-like proteinases human neutrophil cathepsin G (cat G) and human mast cell chymase (HMC) [Schick, 1997]. SCCA1 on the other hand, inhibits papain-like cysteine proteinase such as cathepsin K, L and S but not common serine proteinases [Schick, 1998]. (table 1) The majority of amino acids that differ between SCCA1 and SCCA2 reside in the exposed portion of the reactive site loop (RSL). Site-directed mutagenesis directed at either the hinge or the variable region of the RSL abolished its inhibitory activity and it has been suggested that it is the altered sequence and flexibility of the RSL itself that enables cross-class inhibition of cysteine proteinases by SCCA1 [Schick, 1998].

4.3 Expression and distribution

RNA transcripts of SCCA1 and SCCA2 have been detected in human lung, tonsil, thymus, lymph node placenta, prostate and testis using RT-PCR [Cataltepe, 2000]. Using immunohistochemistry with discriminatory monoclonal antibodies for the SCCA1 and SCCA2 isoforms [Cataltepe, 2000] these proteins were shown to be co-localized to the skin, esophagus, tonsil, tongue, thymus, trachea, bronchi, bronchiole, vagina and uterine cervix [Cataltepe, 2000]. Non-discriminatory in situ hybridization experiments have localized SCCA mRNA to the basal and parabasal layers of normal squa-



Figure 3. Genomic map of SCCA1 and SCCA2 genes. (Adapted from Schneider SS et al. A serine proteinase inhibitor locus at 18q21.3 contains a tandem duplication of the human squamous cell carcinoma antigen gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995; 92: 3147–51.)

Proteinase (final concentration)	SCCA1			SCCA2		
	SCCA1 (μM)	Ratio (I/E)	Inhibition (%)	SCCA2 (µM)	Ratio (I/E)	Inhibition (%)
catG (42nM)	0.48	11	0	0.4	10	100
HMC (50 nM)	0.48	10	0	0.4	8	100
Chymotrypsin (400 nM)	33.0	83	0	22.0	55	0
Granzyme B (130 nM)	20.0	154	0	13.0	100	0
HNE (330 nM)	33.0	100	0	22.0	67	0
Plasmin (17 nM)	0.48	28	0	0.4	24	0
Proteinase 3 (35 nM)	0.48	14	0	0.4	11	79
PSA (140 nM)	18.0	129	0	14.0	100	0
Thrombin (19 nM)	2.0	105	0	2.0	53	0
Trypsin (450 nM)	33.0	73	0	22.0	49	0
u-PA (100 nM)	2.0	20	0	2.0	20	0
catB (23 nM)	2.0	87	0	2.0	87	0
catS (19 nM)	1.0	100	99	ND	ND	ND
catL (4.3 nM)	0.086	20	93	0.043	10	0
catK (50 nM)	0.7	14	75	0.2	4	0
Papain (207 nM)	0.36	2	91	ND	ND	ND

Table 1. Inhibitory profiles of SCCA1 and SCCA2

Inhibitory profiles of SCCA1 and SCCA2. (Modified from Schick C et al. Cross-class inhibition of the cystein proteinases cathepsins K, L, and S by the serpin squamous cell carcinoma antigen 1: A kinetic analysis. Biochemistry 1998; 37: 5258–66, and Schick C et al. Squamous cell carcinoma antigen 2 is a novel serpin that inhibits the chymotrypsin-like proteinases cathepsin G and mast cell chymase. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 1849–55.)

mous epithelium, in dysplasia and in invasive squamous cell carcinoma [Takeshima, 1992]. Although SCCA1 and SCCA2 are detected in the cytoplasm of normal squamous epithelial cells, neither serpin is detected normally in serum. Expression of SCCA-green fluorescent fusion protein and confocal microscopy has been used to study the release of SCCA1 and SCCA2 from squamous carcinoma cells. In this study the SCCA-fusion proteins were found exclusively in the cytosol and were not associated with nuclei, mitochondria, lysosomes, microtubules, actin or the Golgi. Neither non-stimulated nor stimulated squamous carcinoma cells secreted SCCA into the medium suggesting that the major site of SCCA1 and SCCA2 inhibitory activity is within the cytosol and that the elevated SCCA serum levels of patients with squamous-cell carcinomas may be due to passive release into the circulation [Uemura, 2000].

4.4 Pathophysiological role

The possible role of the serine proteinase inhibitors SCCA1 and SCCA2 in the development of squamous epithelial malignancies is currently unknown. SCCA2 has been suggested to protect the epithelia of the skin and lung against inflammatory degradation

by inhibiting leukocyte proteinases HMC and cat G [Schick, 1997]. This theory is strengthened by the earlier finding that inflammatory skin disorders such as psoriasis and atopic dermatitis are associated with increased serum levels of SCCA [Duk, 1989; Campbell, 1990]. The role of the observed cross-class inhibition of cystein proteinases by SCCA1 has not been clarified. It has been proposed that SCCA1 is involved in the control of normal and pathological proteolytic events by inhibition of lysosomal enzymes catK, -L, and -S, released from damaged epithelial cells [Schick, 1998]. Tumour cells transduced with the SCCA1 cDNA have been shown to be more resistant to induced apoptosis as compared to control cells in vitro. These cells also formed larger tumors than corresponding controls in nude mice [Suminami, 2000]. Recombinant SCCA1 has been shown to inhibit migration of NK-cells in vitro. This inhibitory effect is lost by introducing a single amino acid mutation to the reactive site loop [Suminami, 2001]. Suppression of both SCCA proteins using an antisense SCCA mRNA construct has resulted in inhibition of tumor growth and increased infiltration of natural killer cells in vitro which may contribute to the escape of squamous cell carcinoma cells from the host immune system [Suminami, 2001].

5. TECHNIQUES FOR MEASUREMENT OF MRNA-EXPRESSION

5.1 Strategies for quantification of mRNA expression in malignant cells

In order to characterize the expression of genes critical for the behavior of tumors, pathologists have traditionally relied on immunohistochemistry in paraffin-embedded tissues. Proteins being the effector molecules in most cellular mechanisms, are a natural target for endpoint evaluation of gene expression, and there is no doubt that this will remain a central technique in grading of tumors in the foreseeable future. There are however, several factors limiting the applicability of immunologic techniques for specific purposes. Secretion of proteins to extracellular compartments, complexing by binding to inhibitors or carrier molecules, and highly variable degradation rates render quantitative analysis of gene expression on the protein level relatively

inaccurate. In addition, synthesis of discriminatory antibodies for closely related proteins while retaining sufficient binding affinity, can in some cases be difficult or maybe even impossible. mRNA in contrast, is synthesized, functions and is degraded intracellularly, and can in this aspect be considered a potential target for quantitative analyses of gene expression. Several different techniques enable discrimination of mRNA transcripts on the basis of single nucleotide differences allowing independent analysis of highly homologous transcripts. Measurement of cellular content of specific mRNA transcripts thus provides a versatile method for accurate quantitative analysis of gene expression levels.

Clinical tumor tissue samples generally consist of mixtures of cell types including tumor cells, several different cell types of the normal surrounding tissue, inflammatory cells as well as necrotic cells often in the center of the tumor. In situ detection of mRNA enables visualization of localized gene expression in a heterogeneous surrounding without purification of malignant cells. Detection of multiple transcripts, however, is limited in an in situ format and low-abundance mRNA species often require amplification procedures commonly performed in homogeneous assays. To enable measurement of tumor-derived mRNA from heterogeneous samples in a homogeneous assay, tumor cells can be either physically separated from the surrounding cells or alternatively the analysis can be focused on tissue-specifically expressed genes. Microdissection procedures [Kubo, 1995; Emmert-Buck, 1996; Bonner, 1997; Simone, 1998] have been successfully used to clean tissue samples from other than tumor tissues and to specifically select tumor cells from a heterogeneous surrounding in a tissue sample. With laser assisted microdissection and RT-PCR, amplified mRNA transcripts have been detected even in single cells [Schutze, 1998]. Various immunologic techniques have been utilized in an analogous manner to select tumor cells or to disselect leukocytes in blood and other body fluid samples. A method of circumventing the need for purification of tumor cells is to detect mRNA transcripts displaying tissue- or cell-type-specific expression. This method was originally described for detecting occult malignant cells in blood [Smith, 1991] and analogous techniques have later been applied to tissue samples. Co-variation in the expression of cell-type specific genes has been used to normalize expression profiles obtained from clinical tumor samples with cDNA arrays [Ross, 2000].

5.2 mRNA detection techniques

5.2.1 Hybridization on solid supports and gene expression profiling

The first widely used technique for quantification of specific mRNAs was the northern blot hvbridization assay [Alwine, 1977], a modification of the southern blot earlier described for detecting specific sequences among DNA fragments separated by gel electrophoresis [Southern, 1975]. Northern blotting involves size-fractionation of total RNA or mRNA samples and transfer to a nylon or nitrocellulose membrane where specific sequences can be detected by hybridization with typically a ³²P-labelled DNA or oligonucleotide probe. In RNA dot blot hybridizations [Kafatos, 1979] the size-fractionation step is omitted and the target RNA is blotted directly onto a membrane. While these early RNA detection techniques allow simultaneous detection of a specific transcript in several samples with labelled probes, the development of reverse dot blot assays enabled detection of multiple sequence targets in single labelled samples [Bugawan, 1991]. Subsequent automation and miniaturization of the dot blot increased the number of genes that could be studied in a single experiment, as specific cDNAs were arrayed onto membranes [Lennon, 1991].

Microarray or chip technology utilizing glass as the solid support has dramatically increased the number of genes that can be studied simultaneously. In a typical experiment mRNA isolated from a tissue sample or a cell line is reverse transcribed and labelled to generate a target that can be detected upon



Figure 4. Gene expression analysis using cDNA microarrays. The total pool of mRNA from a test sample and a reference sample is used to prepare fluorescently labelled cDNA by reverse transcription with fluorescently labelled nucleotides. The two differently labelled cDNAs are mixed and hybridized on a cDNA microarray. Each gene to study is represented as a distinct spot of DNA in the array. The relative abundance of specific transcripts in the samples is reflected as the ratio of fluorescence measured in the respective spot. (Adapted from Brown PO and Botstein D. Exploring the new world of the genome with DNA microarrays. Nature Genetics 1999; 21, suppl.: 33–7.)

hybridization to the microarray. Labelling of the target can be done by incorporating labeled nucleotides during reverse transcription, but many protocols require an amplification step in order to produce sufficient amounts of target template for the hybridization reaction. High density oligonucleotide arrays developed at Affymetrix Inc. are manufactured by in situ photolithographic synthesis of oligonucleotide probes based on database sequence information. Hybridization events on the array are monitored by laser confocal fluorescent scanning in up to one million locations. [Fodor, 1991; Southern, 1992; Fodor, 1993; Pease, 1994]. Multiple independent probes specific for different regions of the same target template are used in order to increase signal-to-noise ratio and enable quantification of up to 40.000 target templates. The quantitative accuracy of commercially available oligonucleotide arrays allows discrimination of two-fold differences in expression levels [Lipshutz, 1999]. cDNA microarrays [Schena, 1995; Shalon, 1996; Schena, 1996] are constructed by printing DNA probes on the solid support using ink-jet technology. Two-color fluorescence hybridization is used to quantitatively analyse the relative expression levels of maximally tens of thousands of genes in a test sample in relation to those of a reference sample (fig. 4). By measuring the ratio of differently labelled targets in a mixture, inaccuracy due to variable hybridization kinetics is minimized. The ink-jet technology has been expanded to printing of oligonucleotides which allows synthesis of probes based on database sequence information. Generation of this type of DNA microarrays in an academic environment provides a cost effective alternative for gene expression profiling whereas ready-to-use cDNA microarrays are also commercially available.

An alternative method for analysis of gene expression patterns is Serial Analysis of Gene Expression (SAGE). [Velculescu, 1995] In this technique mRNA is isolated from the source and reverse transcribed. The cDNA molecules are restriction endonuclease digested (anchoring enzyme), ligated to one of two primer specific linker sequences and reduced to 9 nt sequence tags by a second cleavage with a type IIS restriction nuclease (tagging enzyme). The



Figure 5. A small region of a tissue microarray (96 spots). Each tissue spot has a diameter of 0.6 mm. Bottom: Higher magnification images of three HE-stained specimens. (Adapted from Kallioniemi O-P. Biochip technologies in cancer research. Ann Med 2001; 33: 142–7.)

tagging enzyme recognizes a specific site on the linker sequences and cuts 9 nt downstream into the tag sequence. The two resulting populations of blunt ended linker-tag sequences are ligated to produce ditags that are subsequently PCR amplified with primers specific for the linker sequences situated in each end. Following amplification the ditags are cleaved from the linker sequences with the anchoring enzyme and concatenated by ligation to form a continuous sequence of sequence tags. Sequencing of the concatenated sequence tags will reveal the identity and the relative frequency of the mRNA transcripts in the original sample. SAGE is a fast method for quantitatively analyzing mRNA expression patterns. The experiments can in principle be performed during a single day and do not require any out-of-the-ordinary laboratory equipment.

In order to characterize new potential markers evolving from gene expression screening experiments on a large number of samples, a technique of generating tissue microarrays

on microscopic slides has been developed [Kononen, 1998]. (fig. 5) In this technique up to 1000 cylinders of 0.6 mm diameter are punched from individual "donor" paraffinembedded tumor blocks and arrayed into a new 45 x 20 mm paraffin block. The height of the cylinders are approximately 3-4 mm allowing up to two hundred consecutive sections to be cut from the block. Classical immunohistochemistry [Bubendorf, 1999] and fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) [Schraml, 1999; Richter, 2000] have been successfully used to evaluate the clinical applicability of new candidate marker molecules, whereas mRNA in situ hybridization requiring conservation of intact mRNA in the arrayed sections has been less well documented. A modification of the original protocol for generation of tissue microarrays [Fejzo, 2001] enables generation of arrays from frozen tissue in order to enhance qualitative and quantitative properties of problematic immunohistochemistry applications and especially mRNA ISH assays.

5.2.2 Homogeneous hybridization assays

Detection of single nucleotide differences with allele-specific oligonucleotide probes (ASO probes) was described in 1979 [Wallace, 1979] and used to detect a mutation in the beta-globin gene causing sickle-cell anemia in 1983 [Conner, 1983]. Hybridization of target specific oligonucleotides have been used in a vast number of nucleic acid detection systems but are inheritedly restricted by a certain degree of cross-reaction when used for quantitative detection of single nucleotide differences.

Molecular beacon technology [Tyagi, 1996] combines the simplicity of direct hybridization with an enhanced capacity for discrimination between single nucleotide differences. Molecular beacons are oligonucleotide probes with a stem-and-loop structure consisting of a central target-complementary region that is flanked by two 5-7 nt arm sequences which are unrelated to the target sequence but complementary to each other (fig. 6). The stem is formed by annealing of the two arm sequences. A fluorescent moiety is coupled to one of the arms of the probe and a non-fluorescent quenching moiety to the other. When the probe is in the closed state, the the fluorophore and the quencher are in close apposition rendering the fluorophore unable to fluoresce. When the probe encounters a target nucleic acid, the stem opens due to the greater binding energy of the target complementary central loop sequence to the target, as compared to the binding energy of the selfannealing arm sequences. This forces the fluorophore and the quencher apart from each other and allows the probe to fluoresce upon illumination. Due to the conformation constraint of the molecular beacon probes, a greater specificity can be achieved than with conventional ASO probes [Bonnet, 1999]. Molecular beacons have been successfully used in real-time PCR applications for detection of single nucleotide substitutions causing drug resistance [Piatek, 1998] and multiplex detection of pathogenic retroviruses [Vet, 1999]. Molecular beacons have also been used



Figure 6. The principle of operation (A) and structure (B) of molecular beacons. The self-complementary hairpin stem of the molecular beacon keeps the fluorophore (EDANS) and the quencher (DABCYL) in close apposition in the absence of target template. When the molecular beacon hybridizes to a specific target the hairpin structure is forced to open up, causing the probe to fluoresce as the fluorophore is released from the quencher. (Adapted from Tyagi, S and Kramer FR. Molecular Beacons: Probes that fluoresce upon hybridization. Nature Biotechnology 1996; 14: 303–8.)

to detect specific mRNAs in living cells without prior amplification [Sokol, 1998]. Fluorescent resonance energy transfer has been utilized to create molecular beacons that are brighter and simplify multiplexing as different beacons can be excited with a common monochromatic light source [Tyagi, 2000].

5.2.3 Enzyme dependent detection assays

Allele-specific ligation [Landegren, 1988] utilizes the enzyme specificity of DNA ligase



Figure 7. The minisequencing principle. 1. Biotinylation during amplification using a labeled primer. 2. Affinity-capture. 3. Washing and denaturation of the double-stranded PCR amplicons. 4. Annealing of the minisequencing primer. 5a and 5b separate detection of PCR products by minisequencing primer extension with single labeled nucleotides. (Adapted from Syvanen A-C et al. A primer-guided nucleotide incorporation assay in the genotyping of apolipoprotein E. Genomics 1990; 8: 684–92.)

to covalently join two sequence-specific oligonucleotide probes adjacently annealed on a target DNA sequence. This technique was the first model for utilizing enzyme-specificity to detect single nucleotide substitutions. This technology has led to the development of padlock probes [Nilsson, 1994; Nilsson, 1997]. Padlock probes are linear oligonucleotides of approximately 90 nt (80-200) length with a target specific sequence of approximately 20 nt in each end. The padlock probes are circularized by annealing the template specific 3'and 5'-regions adjacently on a target template and ligating their outer ends. Since DNA and RNA are helical molecules, the formed duplex is coiled at the annealing site one complete turn per 10 base pairs. Circularization of the padlock probe prevents unwinding of the helical structure, and the probe will thus be catenated to the target DNA despite denaturation of the specific part of the probe from the target sequence.

Minisequencing (single nucleotide primer extension) has become the most widely used technique for single nucleotide detection (fig. 7). This technique utilizes the specificity of a DNA polymerase (or alternatively a reverse transcriptase) to incorporate a single nucleotide at the 3'-end of a sequence-specific primer [Syvanen, 1990]. Minisequencing is typically performed in solid phase assays to detect point mutations in amplified PCR products [Syvanen, 1992; Syvanen, 1992; Singer-Sam, 1992]. In such applications, the PCR amplicons are labelled using a biotinylated primer in the amplification reaction. Following amplification, the PCR product is captured on a streptavidin coated solid phase and quantitatively detected by incorporating labelled nucleotides to a target specific primer annealed immediately adjacently to the polymorphic site. Tritium has been commonly used as a detection label in combination with scintil-



Figure 8. Ratio of fluorescein to rhodamine fluorescence of a dual-labelled hydrolysis probe, monitored at each cycle during a kinetic PCR amplification of 10-fold dilutions of the target template. Threshold cycle values are typically calculated by determining the point at which the fluorescence exceeds ten times the standard deviation of the baseline. (Adapted from Wittwer CT et al. Continuous fluorescence monitoring of rapid cycle DNA amplification. Biotechniques 1997; 22: 130–8.)

lating microtiter plates [Ihalainen, 1994]. Multiplexing of minisequencing reactions has been achieved using fluorescent labels [Pastinen, 1996; Pastinen, 1997] and a homogenous assay format has been described utilizing fluorescent resonance energy transfer (FRET) between a donor fluorophore at the 5'-end of the primer and and acceptor fluorophores coupled to dideoxy terminator nucleotides [Chen, 1997; Chen, 1997]. Minisequencing has been used for quantification of rare mRNA transcripts [Ikonen, 1992; Singer-Sam, 1992] and as a detection method on microarrays [Pastinen, 1998; Pastinen, 2000]. A number of commercial products have been developed based on the minisequencing technology, the most common application being SNP detection.

5.3 Amplification techniques

5.3.1 Competitive RT-PCR

Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) has been the mainstream

method of mRNA amplification since the advent of PCR in 1986 [Mullis, 1986; Mullis, 1987; Saiki, 1986]. The first quantitative RT-PCR protocols relied on coamplification of an internal standard consisting of in vitro-generated DNA or RNA with the wild type templates [Wang, 1989; Becker-Andre, 1989; Gilliland, 1990]. In this type of assay the initial copynumber of the wild type template is estimated from the ratio of endpoint wild type to internal standard PCR product following amplification. Several different methods of end-point detection of PCR products have been described [Ikonen, 1992; Pannetier, 1993; Alard, 1993]. In an early application of this technique Piatak and colleagues quantitatively determined the viral load of HIVinfected patients [Piatak, 1993]. When carefully optimized to minimize differences in reaction kinetics between the competing templates in the reaction and excluding any possible sources of nonspecific amplification, accurate quantitation over a dynamic range of 6 orders of magnitude can be achieved with this type of technique [Jalava, 1993].

5.3.2 Kinetic RT-PCR

Kinetic or real PCR technology enables fluorometric monitoring of the accumulating PCR products during cycling. (fig. 8) In its simplest form accumulating fluorescence from an intercalating dye is measured [Higuchi, 1992]. Discrimination between coamplified products can be achieved by melting curve analysis provided that the amplified products differ in length. Drawbacks of this technique is that any nonspecific amplification will contribute to the accumulation of fluorescence and thus decrease sensitivity and undermine the quantitative accuracy. Detection technologies based on product identification by hybridization enable increased quantitative accuracy and also allows the use of internal standards in a competitive fashion. In the commercially available TaqMan assay® (PE Biosystems) quantification is obtained by monitoring decrease in fluorescein quenching by rhodamine following exonuclease cleavage of dual-labelled probes that have hybridized to the accumulating PCR amplicons [Holland, 1991; Livak, 1995; Gibson, 1996]. A commonly used commercial assay for Lightcycler® instrument (Roche) is based on fluorescent energy transfer (FRET) of CY5 to fluorescein between probes that anneal adjacently on the accumulating PCR products [Wittwer, 1997]. Alternative detection principles based on FRET include molecular beacons [Tyagi, 1996], energy transfer primers [Nazarenko, 1997] and dye-labeled oligonucleotide ligation [Chen, 1998]. Quantitation in real time assay systems is done from data points gathered during the exponential phase of amplification. Several commercial systems use extrapolation of a threshold cycle at which the accumulating fluorescence from the PCR product exceeds the baseline. The original amount of template in the sample is mathematically derived from the threshold cycle. The kinetic PCR systems offer the convenience of quantitation during cycling which simplifies assay procedures and minimizes the risk of sample contamination. They do not however eliminate the need of an appropriate internal standard if accurate quantitation is to be achieved.

5.3.3 In situ PCR

In situ PCR of DNA targets was first described in 1990 [Haase, 1990]. In situ RT-PCR [Nuovo, 1992] enables sensitive detection of rare mRNA transcripts within cells and tissues as well as co-localization of mRNA transcripts and proteins when combined with immunohistochemistry [Matsuki, 1992; Gosztonyi, 1994]. Technical problems specific for in situ PCR include loss of localization due to diffusion of amplification products as well as primer oligomerization and incorporation of labeled nucleotides into background DNA [Nuovo, 2001]. Several detection methods such as exonuclease cleavage of dual-labeled probes [Holland, 1991], molecular beacons [Tyagi, 1996] and energy transfer primers [Nazarenko, 1997] that allow monitoring of the accumulating PCR amplicons during cycling, are directly applicable to In situ RT-PCR. A technique based on universal energy-transfer labelled primers has been described [Nuovo, 1999] significantly simplifying the experimental procedures of In situ PCR.

5.3.4 Isothermal RNA amplification

Isothermal RNA amplification (Self-Sustained Sequence Replication, 3SR, Transcription-based Amplification System, TAS or Nucleic Acid Sequence-Based Amplification, NASBA) involves a combination of three enzymes to generate a logarithmic amplification of an RNA template without temperature cycling. (fig. 9) In the initial report [Kwoh, 1989], the original RNA template is reverse transcribed using AMV reverse transcriptase and a primer with a T7 RNA polymerase promoter sequence at the 5'-end to generate a (-) cDNA strand. The RNA-DNA hybrid is heat-denaturated and a second primer complementary to a region at the 3'-end of the cDNA initiates



Figure 9. The principle of isothermal RNA amplification (Self Sustained Sequence Replication 3SR, Nucleic Acid Sequence-Based Amplification, NASBA). Amplification proceeds through a continuous cycle of reverse transcription and transcription reactions to replicate an RNA target by means of cDNA intermediates. The generation of double stranded DNA targets for the T7 RNA polymerase (5) is dependent on RNase digestion of the RNA in the intermediate RNA-DNA hybrids. (Adapted from Guatelli, JC et al. Isothermal, in vitro amplification of nucleic acids by a multi-enzyme reaction modeled after retroviral replication. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 1990; 87: 1874–8.)

reverse transcription of a second DNA strand, thus producing a double stranded DNA template with a T7-polymerase promoter region. Subsequently the T7 RNA polymerase replicates a large number of RNA transcripts from the double stranded DNA template, resulting in a $2-5 \times 10^6$ -fold increase in the copy number of the original target sequence after 4 cycles. In a modification of this technique RNase H was added to the reaction resulting in degradation of the RNA in the RNA-DNA hybrids as the first reverse transcription reaction

progresses [Guatelli, 1990; Compton, 1991]. This improved procedure enabled isothermal amplification at 41° C for approximately 90 minutes. Molecular beacons [Tyagi, 1996] have been used to enable realtime detection during isothermal RNA amplification [Leone, 1998].

5.3.5 Probe amplification techniques

Ligase chain reaction (LCR) [Wu, 1989; Barany, 1991] utilizes two probe pairs analogous the sequence of the two respective strands



B. Mutation discrimination



Figure 10. Schematic for detecting small target sequences (A) or point mutations (B) using rolling circle amplification. (Adapted from Zhong, XB et al. Visualization of oligonucleotide probes and point mutations in interphase nuclei and DNA fibers using rolling circle DNA amplification. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA 2001; 98: 3940–5.)

of the target nucleic acid. The reaction proceeds exponentially as adjacently annealed probes are enzymatically ligated and form a template for a pair of complementary probes. The method possesses the enzyme specificity of allele-specific ligation. This relatively simple amplification technique has been used for DNA amplification in numerous genotyping and clinical applications. Rolling circle amplification (RCA) is a probe amplification technique in which a circular DNA 34 nt or longer acts as template for amplification [Fire, 1995; Lizardi, 1998]. (fig. 10) When a DNA polymerase with strand displacement capacity is utilized, the reaction proceeds isothermally creating a single linear complementary DNA strand consisting of multiple tandem repeats of the of the template sequence. Numerous modifications to the RCA protocol have been published. Perhaps the most potential properties of this amplification technique is the possibility to generate localized amplification products for in situ detection of DNA [Zhong, 2001] and mRNA [Zhou, 2001].

AIMS OF THE PRESENT STUDY

The aim of this study was to utilize molecular biology techniques to develop novel prognostic methods for the management of solid tumors. Squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck region and the uterine cervix have served as model diseases for this purpose. The specific aims of this study were:

- To develop a method for detecting occult malignant cells in the circulation of patients with cancer of the uterine cervix, based on detection of squamous cell carcinoma antigen mRNA in peripheral blood.
- 2) To develop a method to enable accurate quantification of the relative levels of two highly homologous mRNAs occurring in a clinical sample.

- To determine the prognostic value of accurately measuring the ratio of SCCA2 to SCCA1 mRNA in tumor tissue of primary squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck.
- To mathematically estimate the degree of variation caused by stochastic factors in techniques striving to quantify the absolute and relative levels of molecules in highly diluted solutions.
- 5) To empirically test the accuracy of a highly optimized competitive RT-PCR based assay to quantify relative levels of highly homologous mRNAs, in relation to the mathematically estimated optimal accuracy at low levels of target template molecules.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. PATIENTS AND SAMPLES

1.1 Blood samples

Single 3 ml blood samples were drawn from patients under follow up for squamous cell carcinoma of the uterine cervix and from control subjects (I) Two to five 10 ml blood samples were drawn from cervical cancer patients, head and neck cancer patients as well as from corresponding control subject undergoing invasive therapy, before during and after treatment (V). All blood samples were drawn in Vacutainer EDTA tubes (Becton Dickinson, Rutherford, NJ). In order to avoid contamination from epithelial cells from the skin, at least one tube was drawn for other purposes before collection of the sample analyzed in RT-PCR.

1.2 Tissue samples

Grossly prepared tissue samples from three patients treated for squamous cell carcinoma of the uterine cervix was used as positive controls for detection of SCCA mRNA in peripheral blood (I). In order to study the relative mRNA expression of the SCCA1 and SCCA2 genes in malignant and normal tissue we analyzed banked tumor tissue specimens from 30 patients with primary and 11 patients with recurrent squamous cell head and neck tumors and 19 normal mucosal epithelium specimens from the head and neck region of 16 patients surgically treated for various conditions. The condition of the sample and the proportions of different cell types present were determined from a toluidine-blue stained microscopic frozen section and five adjacently located 10 µm sections were transferred to a reaction tube for extraction of total RNA (II, III). Tissue samples had been stored at -80° C (I) and at -40° C (II,III) until analysis. The total amount of tumor tissue samples was limited by the availability of banked specimens from different patients (II, III).

1.3 Cultured cells

Epidermoid carcinoma cell line A431 (ATCC, Rockville, MD) were cultured and used for cell spiking experiments in order to determine the detection limit of the RT-PCR assay (I) and to evaluate the quantitative accuracy of the RT-PCR assay at low template concentrations (V).

1.4 Patients and follow-up characteristics

In order to study the presence of occult epithelial cells in the circulation of cervical cancer patients we studied samples from 15 patients under follow up after treatment for cancer of the uterine cervix and 24 controls (I). To determine the prognostic value of measuring the mRNA ratio of SCCA1 and SCCA2 in head and neck cancer we studied tumor tissue specimens from 30 patients with primary squamous cell tumors and 11 patients with recurrent tumors (II, III). In study V the original aim was to study the possible release of tumor cells into circulation during various forms of invasive treatment. 385 blood samples were obtained from cervical cancer patients undergoing intracavitary radiation therapy, from head and neck cancer patients undergoing radical surgery and from corresponding control subject undergoing surgery

to the head and neck region for other causes. All of the patients included in the studies had been treated with curative intent and informed consent was obtained from all patients and controls. The studies have been approved by the ethical committees of the Dept. of Gynecology and Obstetrics (I, V) and the Dept. of Otorhinolaryngology at the Helsinki University Central Hospital (V) and the Joint Ethical Committee of the Turku University and the Turku University Central Hospital (II, III).

2. DETECTION AND QUANTIFICATION OF SCCA MRNA TRANSCRIPTS

2.1 RNA extraction procedures

Total RNA was extracted from microscopic tissue sections by transferring five adjacent 10 μ m frozen sections from each sample directly into a chaotropic Lysis buffer (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) and centrifuged through Qiashredder spin columns (Qiagen) to shear high molecular weight DNA. Total RNA was extracted from the lysates by centrifugation through RNeasy spin columns (Qiagen) where RNA adsorbs to a silica membrane under chaotropic conditions. Prior to elution in diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC) treated water the RNA extracts were DNA digested in the column membranes according to the manufacturers instructions (II, III).

mRNA was extracted from peripheral blood samples according to two different protocols. In the early stages of the study (I) blood samples were hemolyzed in a hypotonic solution consisting of 1.5 volumes of DEPCtreated water for 5 min. Leukocytes were pelleted and transferred to a 4.0 M guanidium thiocyanate based chaotropic buffer [Chomczynski, 1987] and lysed by vortexing. mRNA was directly captured from the 2:1 diluted lysate using biotinylated oligo-dT probes and captured on streptavidin coated paramagnetic particles (Promega, Madison, WI). At a later stage (V) hemolysis was done by hypotonic shock by 10:1 dilution of blood samples in cold DEPC-treated water and neutralization

after 30 sec with 0.1 vol of 10 x PBS. The pelleted leukocytes were lysed in 5.0 M guanidium thiocyanate based buffer, centrifuged through Qiashredder spin columns (Qiagen) and total RNA was extracted using RNeasy spin columns (Qiagen). mRNA was subsequently oligo-dT captured from the total RNA eluate on the wall of 0.2 ml streptavidin coated PCR tubes (Roche diagnostics, Basel, Switzerland).

2.2 Primer design, verification of PCR products and end-point-detection

To optimize stringency of the PCR (II, III, V), all primers were designed to have a 5' or central domain binding to the template stronger than the 3' pentamer. (fig. 11) This was done to ensure that elongation would pursue only after annealing of the entire length of the primer [Rychlik, 1995]. The formation of primer dimers was eliminated by designing all of the PCR primers so that any possible primer-primer duplexes with protruding 5' end enabling formation of amplified dimers possessed considerably weaker binding energies than the 3'-pentamers of the primer to template duplexes. Oligo 5.0 primer analysis software (National Biosciences, Plymouth, MN) was used as an aid in designing and analyzing PCR primers. In order to gain enough freedom to design primers conferring to the above criteria, we did not in any way



Figure 11. Sequences and internal stability of the PCR primers used for co-amplification of the SCCA1, SCCA2 and internal standard templates. Binding energy was calculated by the nearest neighbor method using Oligo 5.0 software. $\Delta G = \Delta H - T\Delta S$. $\Delta H =$ change in enthalpy, T = temperature (25° C), $\Delta S =$ change in entropy.

restrict the formation of primer-primer duplexes with protruding 3' overhangs that are unable to amplify. The PCR amplicon spans the exon 2-3 junction of the SCCA1 and SCCA2 genes. The minisequencing primers both bind symmetrically on the exon 2-3 junction. The competitive effect imposed by coamplification of genomic DNA was minimized by DNase digestion of the total RNA extracted from the samples (II, III, V) and by further capturing of mRNA from total RNA extracts (V). PCR products were verified by cycle sequencing on an ABI PRISM 310 genetic analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) (I, II) and Southern blot analysis using a ³²P-labelled 21-mer oligonucleotide probe (I). A nested PCR protocol was used for all applications. PCR products were endpoint-detected by agarose gel electrophoresis and ethidium bromide staining (I) and quantified in a beta counter by solid phase minisequencing using ³H-labelled nucleotides and 96-well scintillating microtiter plates [Ihalainen, 1994] (II, III, V).

2.3 Internal standard construction

The SCCA1 and SCCA2 templates differ within the PCR amplicon at positions 206, 211 and 212 of the SCCA2 cDNA sequence (Genebank, accession number: U19557). An internal standard was constructed by generating an additional A to T mismatch at position 206 of the SCCA2 cDNA using modi-

Jakob Stenman

fied primers and PCR (II). The generated sequence was amplified with the outer PCR primers, cloned into the pCR® II vector (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and sequenced from both ends on an ABI 310 genetic analyzer (Applied Biosystems) using the ABI Prism dRhodamine terminator cycle sequencing kit. One thousand (II, III) or twenty (V) copies of the non-linearized vector containing the modified SCCA2 sequence was included in the PCR reactions as an internal standard.

2.4 Measurement of SCCA protein

SCCA protein was measured by immunoassay on an IMx analyzer (Abbott, Abbott Park, IL) using the IMx SCC kit from the manufacturer (I).

3. STATISTICAL ANALYSES

3.1 Evaluation of the SCCA mRNA ratio assay

The Mann-Whitney U-test was used to analyze the statistical significance of the differences between tumor groups and normal epithelium (III). Survival curves were plotted according to the Kaplan-Meier method. The logrank test was used to calculate the statistical significance of the difference in recurrence-free survival between groups and to evaluate the possible confounding effect of commonly used prognostic factors and different cell types present in the samples. The relative risk of recurrence was calculated and the confidence interval for the relative risk was calculated according to a method developed for clinical trials [Simon, 1986] (III).

3.2 Estimates on sampling variation at low template concentrations

For statistical estimation of the absolute amounts of template molecules present in

an aliquot pipetted from a sample of a known concentration (IV, V), a normal distribution was assumed for templates present at a level of 40 copies or more whereas the Poisson distribution was applied for calculations concerning less than 40 template copies. The probability of a certain ratio of wild type to reference templates to be present in an aliquot containing a known ratio of templates was calculated by multiplying the distribution-based estimated probabilities for each possible absolute amount of wild type and reference templates present in the sampled aliquots. As the same ratio can arise from different combinations of absolute copynumbers of the respective templates, the probability of a certain ratio was estimated by summing the probabilities of the different copynumber combinations resulting in the same ratios. The probability distributions and confidence intervals of a ratio of two templates in an aliquot was estimated from the cumulative probabilities of the most frequent ratios.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

1. Design of the RT-PCR assay for accurate quantification of relative transcript levels

1.1 Principles for detection and quantification of SCCA mRNA levels

We have utilized the tissue-specific expression of the SCCA1 and SCCA2 genes to detect epithelial cells in blood and to measure the expression levels of the two genes in tissue samples containing a mixture of cell types. Non-quantitative RT-PCR amplification was used to detect occult epithelial cells in the circulation of patients with cervical cancer (I) according to the principle described by Smith and colleagues [Smith, 1991], and a quantitative RT-PCR was developed in order to study the relative expression levels of the SCCA genes in tumor specimens of head and neck cancer patients (II, III). The latter method has been used with slight modifications to study factors affecting the quantitative accuracy of sensitive amplification assays at different levels of input template (IV, V). The principle of quantifying the expression levels of highly homologous transcripts in relation to each other was originally described for fibrillin alleles in patients with Marfan's syndrome [Karttunen, 1996]. As highly homologous mRNA transcripts are likely to be similarly affected by nonspecific factors involved in mRNA degradation, the relative level of the transcripts is expected to remain fairly constant despite sample to sample variations in RNA degradation during handling and storage. In addition the two transcripts are likely to be subjected to similar variations in efficacy of RNA extraction procedures and during reverse transcription. The 98% homologous [Schneider, 1995] and tissue specifically expressed [Cataltepe, 2000] SCCA genes have provided suitable targets for such a quantitative setup.

The equivalence of replication efficiencies has been shown by mathematical modeling to be the key feature for achieving optimal quantitative precision in co-amplification based PCR systems [Nedelman, 1992]. In accordance with this, amplification of internal standards and wild type templates with common primers has been unequivocally shown to yield superior quantification accuracy than amplification of standards and wild type templates with separate primers [Raeymaekers, 2000]. We have striven to take the concept of equivalence of replication efficiencies further yet by designing PCR primers common for SCCA1, SCCA2 and the internal standards that produce amplicons of equal length and close to identical base pair composition. This way secondary structures caused by folding of the single stranded PCR amplicons after denaturation are unified, and subsequently the differences in annealing and elongation efficiencies of the primers to the different target templates are minimized. To optimize PCR primer hybridization features and PCR product nucleotide composition and length, 22 primers equally specific to SCCA1 and SCCA2 were designed, synthesized and tested under different cycling conditions. With the primers chosen for the final assay for SCCA mRNA (II, III, V) the amplicons of SCCA1, SCCA2 and an internal standard were coamplified, producing a single 108 bp



Figure 12. Coamplification of SCCA1, SCCA2 and internal standard templates. Ethidium bromide stained agarose gel displaying the single 108 bp band including all three amplicons. All nested PCR reactions were amplified to the plateau. In this way the absolute amount of PCR product in the reactions originally containing various amounts of target template, was unified to fit into the dynamic range of the minisequencing detection assay. The close-to-identical reaction kinetics of the three templates enabled accurate quantification of their relative levels in the endpoint PCR products. Lanes 1–6: patient tissue samples consisting of five 10 μm microscopic frozen sections. Lane 7: phiX-DNA marker.

amplicon. These primers amplified the target templates over a ± 5 °C range of annealing temperatures. With the final reaction conditions no primer dimers or other non-specific amplification could be visualized by ethidium bromide staining (fig. 12).



Figure 13. Capacity of the minisequencing assay to discriminate between templates differing at single nucleotide position. The PCR products derived from the SCCA1, SCCA2 and two internal standards (StandC206 and StandT206) differing at position 206 of the SCCA2 cDNA sequence were mixed and minisequenced with with four different ³H-labelled nucleotides (dGTP, dATP, dTTP and dCTP).

mRNA-exp

Wild type template to internal standard ratio



1.2 Measuring range

In order to determine the measuring range of assay, we amplified dilutions of SCCA1 and SCCA2 cDNA in a 1:1 ratio over a concentration range of 10^2 to 10^9 copies together with different amounts of internal standard (publication II, fig. 1). The ratio of SCCA1 and SCCA2 PCR products remained constant when the amount of wild type templates exceeded that of the internal standard. This resulted in a dynamic range of six orders of magnitude when using more than 1000 molecules of internal standard in the reactions (fig. 13). When the assay was optimized for extreme sensitivity, using 20 molecules of internal standard and in vitro transcribed cRNA templates, the measuring range was limited to 4 orders of magnitude (publication V, fig I). We strived to gain a wide measuring range by systematically amplifying all nested PCR reactions to the plateau phase. By doing this, the endpoint PCR product is brought into the dynamic range of the minisequencing endpoint detection assay, irrespectively of the absolute amount of input wild type templates. Quantitative detection on the or plateau phase

Figure 14. Dynamic range of the RT-PCR assay for quantifying the relative levels of SCCA and internal standard. When mixing 10 000 molecules of the internal standard (Stand T) with 10-fold dilutions of the SCCA1 and SCCA2 transcripts the dynamic range was 6 orders of magnitude.

of amplification is possible in coamplification systems provided that the amplification efficiencies of the coamplified templates are equal [Raeymaekers, 2000]. In such a setting the amplification efficiencies of the different templates will be equally affected by factors limiting exponential amplification and the ratio of the templates will remain unchanged despite saturation of the reaction. The minisequencing assay provided accurate discrimination of single nucleotide sequence differences in the coamplified SCCA1, SCCA2 and internal standard PCR products (fig. 14). In addition, the assay has an exceptional signal to noise ratio which is explained by the great difference in binding affinity between labeled nucleotides enzymatically incorporated to an oligonucleotide primer and non-specific adsorption of nucleotides to any of the components present on the solid phase.

1.3 Quantitative accuracy

The accuracy of the assay for measuring relative levels of SCCA1 and SCCA2 mRNA (II, III) was determined from test samples of pooled cDNA from six normal epithelium samples and six squamous cell carcinoma tumor samples from the head and neck region. The test samples were included in ten individual sample series and analysed in separate experiments as single samples. The 99% confidence intervals of the means were 0.23 to 0.27 (mean=0.25) and 0.37 to 0.41 (mean 0.39) for the normal epithelium and squamous cell carcinoma tumor test samples, respectively (publication II, fig. 2). The inter-assay coefficient of variation (CV) was 9% for the normal, and 5% for the tumor test samples. 1000 copies of a non-linearized plasmid containing the internal standard sequence was included with the wild type SCCA 1 and SCCA2 templates in the amplification reactions resulting in co-amplification of the three templates. The main function of the internal standard was to ensure that sufficient amounts of the wild type templates were present to yield an accurate ratio of the two wild type templates (II, III, V). The internal standard also served as a quality control, as a decrease in amplification of the standard not accompanied by an increase in amplification of the wild type templates would indicate the presence of inhibition or nonspecific competition in the PCR reactions. When optimizing the assay for extreme sensitivity (V) we observed that the degree of crosscontamination of negative samples was efficiently avoided when as little as 20 molecules of internal standard was used (V). This could indicate that amplification from contaminating DNA or RNA often is derived from single or minimal amounts of template molecules that can be competitively suppressed by even as little as 40 single stranded copies of an internal standard.

The concept of using a highly homologous reference template enables highly accurate and reproducible quantification over a wide range of input template concentrations. This technique is not restricted to the endpoint detection by minisequencing, but can be used in any quantitative system capable of distinguishing highly homologous PCR products. Kinetic or real-time PCR technology has become the mainstream methodology for quantitative applications mainly due to simplified assay procedures and diminished risk of crosscontamination of samples. Combining a detection technology capable of distinguishing single nucleotide differences such as molecular beacons [Tyagi, 1996] to kinetic PCR, NASBA or other alternative kinetic amplification techniques would produce a versatile technology for accurate quantification of rare mRNA transcripts. Thus the benefits of competitive and kinetic amplification approaches could be combined.

1.4 Stochastic considerations

When optimizing the RT-PCR assay for maximal sensitivity (V) we noted that the variation in quantitative accuracy increased dramatically when less than 1000 copies of target template molecules were present. This phenomenon has earlier been termed the Monte Carlo effect [Karrer, 1995]. The observed variation was however much greater than suggested by estimations based on normal and Poisson distributions that have been used in limited dilution assays [Sykes, 1992]. In order to evaluate to what degree the observed variation depended on methodological inaccuracy and to what degree it could be attributed to stochastic sampling variation, we developed an algorithm for calculating the stochastic variation of the resulting ratio of two templates when sampling from a solution containing the two templates at a known ratio (IV). This algorithm, taking in account the multiplicative effect imposed by the variation in the absolute numbers of both wild type and reference template copies, predicted close to 10-fold differences when aiming at sampling an aliquot containing 8 copies of each of the templates. This variation decreases rapidly when the amount of templates increases, being largely negligible at levels above 1000 molecules per reaction (fig. 15, publication III: fig. 1 and table 1). In order to compare the statistically estimated sampling variation with the empirically observed variation, we co-amplified a 5-fold dilution series of mRNA from SCCA-producing A431 cells corresponding to approximately 8-1000





Figure 15. Variation imposed by stochastic distribution of rare template molecules. The 95% confidence intervals of the sampling variation is shown separately for low concentrations of single templates and for the ratio of a target and reference template.

SCCA mRNA transcripts, with 20 molecules of a double stranded DNA internal standard. This experiment was repeated 12 times and the 95% confidence intervals were calculated for each sensitivity level and compared with the corresponding confidence intervals of the statistically predicted sampling variation. We observed that stochastic factors affecting sampling explain a major part of the great variation observed when quantifying relative levels of two rare templates (publication V: fig III).

2. CLINICAL OBSERVATIONS

2.1. Detection of SCCA mRNA in peripheral blood

Circulating epithelial cells were detected in six of 15 cervical cancer patients under follow-up using a non-quantitative RT-PCR for SCCA (I). Of the patients testing positive, five had a diagnosis of epidermoid carcinoma and one had an adenomatous carcinoma (publication I, table 1). Four patients experienced recurrent disease during a 24-month follow up period and three of these had tested positive in the RT-PCR for SCCA while still in remission. One of the patients did not, however, test positive despite progressive disease at the time of sampling. Interestingly, two of 24 control subjects tested positive, both being pregnant women at term (publication I, table 2). This finding is possibly explained by release of squamous epithelial cells due to proteolytic processes in the uterine cervix during the last days of pregnancy. Due to the small number of patients in this study, no conclusions regarding the prognostic potential of this technique could be made. This study however, clearly showed that the tissue-specific expression of squamous cell carcinoma antigen can be used to detect occult epithelial cells.

The sensitivity of the assay was determined to be 10 cells among 10⁶ leukocytes as defined by cell spiking experiments with cultured A431 epidermoid carcinoma cells. A total of 4 PCR reactions were amplified from each of the blood samples using a nested primer protocol. The result was considered positive if the correct PCR product was amplified in one or more of the PCR reactions. The non-quantitative assay setup did not allow definitive exclusion of the possibility that some positive signals would have been derived from low-level background expression in leukocytes. The minimal amount of specific template present in the samples is reflected by the fact that we were not able to amplify the SCCA derived amplicon in more than two of four reactions from any of the patient samples. It is possible that shedding of malignant cells in circulation is not a continuous phenomenon, but rather occurs at intervals. In addition the circulation time of cells of epithelial origin before being trapped in the capillary beds of the lung, liver or other peripheral sites might be relatively short as the total blood volume is circulated on an average once each minute in a person at rest [Despopoulos, 1986].

The observation that cells were released from the cervix during the last days of pregnancy prompted us to develop a competitive RT-PCR for quantitative detection of minimal levels of the SCCA1 and SCCA2 transcripts in blood samples obtained in connection with invasive therapy of squamous cell carcinomas (V). The original aim was to evaluate the effect of invasive therapy on cell-shedding into circulation. We chose to study head and neck cancer patients undergoing radical surgery and cervical cancer patients undergoing intracavitary radiation therapy to the uterine cervix. Especially the latter setting was anticipated to bring about at least temporary shedding of epithelial cells into circulation as the intervention is relatively traumatic and includes no restriction of the blood flow to or from the cervical region. The technique allowed reproducible detection of 40 copies of SCCA cRNA template spiked in total RNA from 1 μ g of total leukocyte RNA (publication V: figure 1). We did not however observe a rise in the level of SCCA mRNA following invasive treatment in any of the head and neck or cervical cancer patient samples (unpublished results).

The concept of detecting occult malignant cells in peripheral blood by RT-PCR based amplification of tissue-specific gene transcripts was first described in 1991 [Smith, 1991]. During the passed decade a great number of techniques have been described using tyrosinase [Smith, 1991], cytokeratins [Ko, 2000], PSA [Jaakkola, 1995; Henke, 1997], PSM [Lintula, 1997] and many other genes as targets for tissue specific RT-PCR amplification. Early attempts were based on nonquantitative techniques and highly variable results were often referred to as illegitimate expression by leukocytes and the existence of expressed pseudogenes. Despite the expectations that real-time PCR technology would solve these problems, as an increase in expression of the target gene could be quantitatively distinguished from baseline expression, whatever the source, results are still quite modest. To date, none of these techniques have reached clinical practice. We conclude that the major source of the variability observed with this type of techniques are in fact due to the low and variable amounts of occult malignant cells present in the peripheral circulation at any given time point.

2.2. Relative levels of SCCA2 and SCCA1 mRNA in head and neck tumor biopsies

Due to the low level of target template in the blood samples we turned the focus to developing accurate techniques to quantify gene expression in microscopic tissue sections. The finding that the neutral and acidic isoforms of SCCA in fact were products of two separate genes, SCCA1 and SCCA2 [Schneider, 1995] spurred us to develop a method that would enable accurate quantitation of the rela-

tive expression levels of these two highly homologous genes. This led to the development of an RT-PCR based technique that enabled accurate quantification of the relative levels of SCCA1 and SCCA2 mRNAs occurring in biopsy specimens of tumor tissue and normal epithelium. The measuring range of the assay (II, III) was 10³–10⁹ copies of input wild type cDNA template (publication II: figure 1). In our material of 117 samples from microscopic frozen sections of normal epithelium and tumor specimen 16 samples were excluded, as the observed SCCA2/SCCA1 ratio was derived from less than one thousand copies of cDNA template. All observed CPM signals for SCCA1 and SCCA2 in the accepted samples exceeded three times the baseline determined from their respective negative controls.

We applied this method to study a material of banked tumor tissue specimens including 30 primary head and neck tumors and 11 recurrent tumors from patients of which follow up data was available from clinical records (publication III: tables 1 and 2). We observed that the relative levels of SCCA2 to SCCA1 mRNA was higher in all tumor groups than in normal epithelial samples. In addition the relative levels of SCCA2 to SCCA1 mRNA was significantly higher in recurrent tumors as well as in primary tumors that had eventually recurred in course of time, than in primary tumors of patients not experiencing a recurrence (publication III: fig. 1). Statistical analysis of recurrence free survival revealed a relative risk of 7.2 (CI 1.2-13.3) of developing recurrent disease in patients with a primary tumor expressing mRNA of SCCA2 at a high level in relation to SCCA1 (publication III: fig. 2). When analyzing other commonly used prognostic indicators in head and neck cancer, the presence of metastases in regional lymph nodes was in addition to a high SCCA2 to SCCA1 mRNA ratio in the primary tumor, the only independent predictor of disease recurrence in our material. There was however no correlation between an elevated SCCA2 to SCCA1 mRNA ratio and the presence of lymph node metastasis, indicating that these two prognostic variables reflect different malignant features of the tumors.

Inoculation of tumors with an antisense SCCA mRNA construct suppressing the expression of both SCCA1 and SCCA2 has been shown to suppress tumor growth in vivo. [Suminami, 2001] This effect has been suggested to be partly explained by the ability of SCCA1 to inhibit migration of NK-cells. Tumor cells transduced with SCCA1 cDNA have also been shown to be more resistant to induced apoptosis as compared to control cells in vitro, and also to form larger tumors than corresponding controls in nude mice. [Suminami, 2000] We observed a relative increase in SCCA2 expression in relation to SCCA1 in tumors with a poor outcome. The method used for relative quantification does not, however, exclude the possibility that the abso-lute levels of both SCCA1 and SCCA2 were elevated in these cases. As the number of clinical samples for which follow up data was available was limited, the power of our statistical analyses remains fairly weak. Our results, however, indicate that in addition to an absolute rise in the expression of the SCCA genes, also a relative increase in the expression of SCCA2 could play a functional role in the pathophysiology of squamous cell carcinomas.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

We have been able to show that highly accurate mRNA quantification can be achieved by comparing the levels of closely related transcripts to each other. The concept of using a closely related mRNA transcript as a reference template for quantification has been demonstrated in a competitive RT-PCR based technique. This technique as such is unlikely to be directly applied as a tool for mRNA based grading in the future due to the relatively complicated methodology. The concept of relative quantification of closely related mRNA:s is however readily applicable to a real-time PCR setup as well as to other amplification- and detection technologies.

We were able to demonstrate the effect of stochastic sampling variation in amplification systems at different template concentrations. These effects are equally present regardless of quantification technology, but are greatly are pronounced at low levels of input template when quantification is done against a reference template. Below a level of 1000 template molecules the stochastic distribution of target molecules during sampling is a major source of variation. As the sensitivity of RT-PCR is sufficient for quantification of mRNA expression from even single cells, accurate quantification is possible only for highly expressed targets. For most gene transcripts, RT-PCR remains a qualitative technique at the single cell level.

The relative levels of SCCA1 and SCCA2 mRNA in squamous cell tumors of the head and neck region was demonstrated to correlate with tumor types displaying an aggressive behavior as well as with the recurrence free survival of the patients. These consistent but subtle variations in the relative levels of the SCCA genes were beyond the quantita-

tive accuracy of the most commonly used techniques for mRNA quantification. As the number of patient samples with available follow up data was limited in our study, the clinical applicability of the SCCA2/SCCA1 mRNA ratio as a molecular marker in head and neck cancer remains to be verified. For the time being, measurement of this parameter remains a potential target for future grading techniques for squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck region and possibly of other sites.

Using a sensitive non-quantitative RT-PCR assay for SCCA mRNA we were able to detect occult epithelial cells in the circulation of cervical cancer patients. In an attempt to use a quantitative method capable of quantifying down to 40 copies of mRNA template, that would distinguish expression from occult epithelial cells from a possible baseline expression in blood cells, we could not however reliably detect malignant cells in the samples. It is likely that detection of mRNA from malignant cells in the peripheral circulation is hampered by stochastic considerations due to low and variable levels of occult cells in circulation at a given time point. This phenomenon equally concerns detection techniques based on enrichment of malignant cells with immunological or gradient centrifugation techniques. RT-PCR provides a potential technology to detect and quantify occult cells at sites where they are enriched over a period of time, such as lymph nodes, bone marrow aspirates and possibly also leukapheresis harvests. The use of RT-PCR for detecting occult cells in peripheral blood cannot, however, be considered feasible in a clinical setting.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The study was carried out during the years 1994–2002 at the Department of Clinical Chemistry. Professors Aarno Palotie, Ulf-Håkan Stenman, Olavi Ylikorkala and former professor Markku Seppälä have established and provided excellent research facilities at the Womens Hospital Laboratory of the Helsinki University Central Hospital and at the Laboratory of Molecular Genetics in Meilahti Hospital.

I am grateful to all the people that I have worked with and shared my time with during these years. I would especially like to acknowledge:

My supervisors professor Aarno Palotie for enthusiastic guidance and critical scepticism, for helping me to relate my work to the big picture in molecular biology and for excellent transatlantic remote control and encouragement during the final years of the study. Docent Arto Orpana for his invaluable role in the development of amplification and detection technologies. I wish to thank Arto for hours of innovative brainstorming and for his down-to-earth sense of humor. Especially I would like to thank for personal support and encouragement during hardships.

Reviewers Tapio Visakorpi and Niklas Dahl for constructive remarks and valuable corrections to my thesis on short notice.

Senior researchers Riitta Koistinen, Ari Ristimäki, Heli Nevanlinna and Ralf Bützow for helpful discussions and for contributing to the academic atmosphere at the laboratory.

My collaborators Juhani Vartiainen and Pentti Lehtovirta for helping me with sample collection and clinical expertise regarding cervical cancer. Anders Ståhls and Ilmo Leivo for pathological expertise and for highly educating hours by the microscope. Reidar Grénman

for providing the valuable head and neck tumor sample material and for clinical expertise and guidance. Johan Hedström for arranging sample collection and traveling with me to Turku to retrieve the clinical data. Patrik Finne for statistical expertise converted to a common sense level and for friendship throughout the years. Susanna Lintula for teaching me the molecular biology techniques and for generously sharing her reagents, buffers and know-how during these years. Henrik Alfthan for his everlasting positive thinking and teaching me the basics of immunoassays. Jari Leinonen for being my always available resource for biochemistry problem solving. Annukka Paju for keeping up the good spirit without ever lowering the pace and Kristina Hotakainen for making it all seem so easy.

Researchers Hannu Koistinen, Jan Andersén, Wan-Ming Zhang, Ping Wu, Johanna Tapper, Piia Vuorela, Heini Lassus, Erik Mandelin, Laura Sarantaus, Susann Nyman, Çan Hekim, Pia Vahteristo, Kirsi Narko, Kirsi Saukkonen and Meerit Kämäräinen for sharing the ups and downs of academic research.

Sanna Kihlberg for fearlessly fighting contaminations in the the PCR jungle. Oso Rissanen for making it all work. Taina Grönholm, Maarit Leinimaa, Anne Ahmanheimo, Kristiina Nokelainen, Anja Mäki, Liisa Airas, Marianne Niemelä, Gynel Arifdshan, Marja-Leena Pekonen for friendship and for providing technical assistance on short notice at numerous occasions.

I further wish to thank the staff and researchers at the Molecular Genetics Laboratory: Elina Virolainen, Ulla Wartiovaara, Jaakko Kaukonen, Hanna Mikkola, Riitta Salminen, Maija Wessman, Sinikka Laine, Eija

Jakob Stenman

Hämäläinen, Katariina Melasniemi, Tuula Salmivaara, Agneta Blomqvist-Kaksonen and Maritta Putkiranta, for all the assistance and for a friendly working atmosphere.

I am deeply grateful to my uncle Svante Stenman for the layout of this thesis and for redrawing the pictures. To my parents-in-law Inger and Hans Söderlund for keeping Annika, Sam and Oskar company and to Hasse for helpful discussions regarding methodology principles and biotechnology in general. To my parents Ulf-Håkan and Ingrid for giving me the self-confidence needed to complete this project and for supporting me throughout life and especially to my father for introducing me to the laboratory where the major part of this study was performed and for encouragement and proofreading throughout the years.

Finally I would like to thank Annika for taking care of and responsibility for our family and household and for helping me keep my priorities right. Sam and Oskar for bringing happiness and meaning to our everyday life and Kajsa for wagging her tail even in moments of despair.

This Study was financially supported by Finska Läkaresällskapet, K. Albin Johansson's Foundation, the Stockmann Foundation and the Perklén's Foundation.

Espoo, May 2002

References

- The 1988 Bethesda System for reporting cervical/vaginal cytological diagnoses. National Cancer Institute Workshop. Jama 1989; 262(7): 931–4.
- Induction chemotherapy plus radiation compared with surgery plus radiation in patients with advanced laryngeal cancer. The Department of Veterans Affairs Laryngeal Cancer Study Group. N Engl J Med 1991; 324(24): 1685–90.
- National Institutes of Health Consensus Development Conference statement on cervical cancer. April 1–3, 1996. Gynecol Oncol 1997; 66(3): 351–61.
- Human papillomavirus testing for triage of women with cytologic evidence of low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions: baseline data from a randomized trial. The Atypical Squamous Cells of Undetermined Significance/Low-Grade Squamous Intraepithelial Lesions Triage Study (ALTS) Group. J Natl Cancer Inst 2000; 92(5): 397–402.
- Ah-See KW, Cooke TG, Pickford IR, Soutar D, Balmain A. An allelotype of squamous carcinoma of the head and neck using microsatellite markers. Cancer Res 1994; 54(7): 1617–21.
- Alard P, Lantz O, Sebagh M, Calvo CF, Weill D, Chavanel G, et al. A versatile ELISA-PCR assay for mRNA quantitation from a few cells. Biotechniques 1993; 15(4): 730–7.
- Alex JC, Sasaki CT, Krag DN, Wenig B, Pyle PB. Sentinel lymph node radiolocalization in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Laryngoscope 2000; 110(2 Pt 1): 198–203.
- Alizadeh AA, Ross DT, Perou CM, van de Rijn M. Towards a novel classification of human malignancies based on gene expression patterns. J Pathol 2001; 195(1): 41–52.
- Allen M, Kalantari M, Ylitalo N, Pettersson B, Hagmar B, Scheibenpflug L, et al. HLA DQ-DR haplotype and susceptibility to cervical carcinoma: indications of increased risk for development of cervical carcinoma in individuals infected with HPV 18. Tissue Antigens 1996; 48(1): 32–7.
- Alon U, Barkai N, Notterman DA, Gish K, Ybarra S, Mack D, et al. Broad patterns of gene expression revealed by clustering analysis of tumor and normal colon tissues probed by oligonucleotide arrays. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999; 96(12): 6745–50.
- Alwine JC, Kemp DJ, Stark GR. Method for detection of specific RNAs in agarose gels by transfer to diazobenzyloxymethyl-paper and hybridization with DNA probes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1977; 74(12): 5350–4.
- Ashfaq R, Liang Y, Saboorian MH. Evaluation of PAPNET system for rescreening of negative cervical smears. Diagn Cytopathol 1995; 13(1): 31–6.
- Barany F. Genetic disease detection and DNA amplification using cloned thermostable ligase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1991; 88(1): 189–93.
- Becker-Andre M, Hahlbrock K. Absolute mRNA quantification using the polymerase chain reaction (PCR). A novel approach by a PCR aided transcript titration assay (PATTY). Nucleic Acids Res 1989; 17(22): 9437–46.
- Berenson JR, Yang J, Mickel RA. Frequent amplification of the bcl-1 locus in head and neck squamous cell carcinomas. Oncogene 1989; 4(9): 1111–6.
- Bittner M, Meltzer P, Chen Y, Jiang Y, Seftor E, Hendrix M, et al. Molecular classification of cutaneous malignant melanoma by gene

expression profiling. Nature 2000; 406(6795): 536-40.

- Bolger BS, Dabbas M, Lopes A, Monaghan JM. Prognostic value of preoperative squamous cell carcinoma antigen level in patients surgically treated for cervical carcinoma. Gynecol Oncol 1997; 65(2): 309–13.
- Bonner RF, Emmert-Buck M, Cole K, Pohida T, Chuaqui R, Goldstein S, et al. Laser capture microdissection: molecular analysis of tissue. Science 1997; 278(5342): 1481,1483.
- Bonnet G, Tyagi S, Libchaber A, Kramer FR. Thermodynamic basis of the enhanced specificity of structured DNA probes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999; 96(11): 6171–6.
- Bosch FX, Manos MM, Munoz N, Sherman M, Jansen AM, Peto J, et al. Prevalence of human papillomavirus in cervical cancer: a worldwide perspective. International biological study on cervical cancer (IBSCC) Study Group. J Natl Cancer Inst 1995; 87(11): 796–802.
- Boshart M, Gissmann L, Ikenberg H, Kleinheinz A, Scheurlen W, zur Hausen H. A new type of papillomavirus DNA, its presence in genital cancer biopsies and in cell lines derived from cervical cancer. Embo J 1984; 3(5): 1151–7.
- Boyle JO, Hakim J, Koch W, van der Riet P, Hruban RH, Roa RA, et al. The incidence of p53 mutations increases with progression of head and neck cancer. Cancer Res 1993; 53(19): 4477–80.
- Brennan JA, Boyle JO, Koch WM, Goodman SN, Hruban RH, Eby YJ, et al. Association between cigarette smoking and mutation of the p53 gene in squamous-cell carcinoma of the head and neck. N Engl J Med 1995; 332(11): 712–7.
- Brennan JA, Mao L, Hruban RH, Boyle JO, Eby YJ, Koch WM, et al. Molecular assessment of histopathological staging in squamouscell carcinoma of the head and neck. N Engl J Med 1995; 332(7): 429–35.
- Brinton LA, Schairer C, Haenszel W, Stolley P, Lehman HF, Levine R, et al. Cigarette smoking and invasive cervical cancer. Jama 1986; 255(23): 3265–9.
- Brioschi PA, Bischof P, Delafosse C, Krauer F. Squamous-cell carcinoma antigen (SCC-A) values related to clinical outcome of preinvasive and invasive cervical carcinoma. Int J Cancer 1991; 47(3): 376–9.
- Brown AD, Garber AM. Cost-effectiveness of 3 methods to enhance the sensitivity of Papanicolaou testing. Jama 1999; 281(4): 347–53.
- Bubendorf L, Kolmer M, Kononen J, Koivisto P, Mousses S, Chen Y, et al. Hormone therapy failure in human prostate cancer: analysis by complementary DNA and tissue microarrays. J Natl Cancer Inst 1999; 91(20): 1758–64.
- Bugawan TL, Begovich AB, Erlich HA. Rapid HLA-DPB typing using enzymatically amplified DNA and nonradioactive sequencespecific oligonucleotide probes. Immunogenetics 1991; 34(6): 413.
- Califano J, Leong PL, Koch WM, Eisenberger CF, Sidransky D, Westra WH. Second esophageal tumors in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: an assessment of clonal relationships. Clin Cancer Res 1999; 5(7): 1862–7.
- Callender T, el-Naggar AK, Lee MS, Frankenthaler R, Luna MA, Batsakis JG. PRAD-1 (CCND1)/cyclin D1 oncogene amplification in primary head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer 1994; 74(1): 152–8.
- Campbell B, De'Ambrosis B. Squamous cell carcinoma antigen in patients

Jakob Stenman

with cutaneous disorders. J Am Acad Dermatol 1990; 22(4): 639–42. Canavan TP, Doshi NR. Cervical cancer. Am Fam Physician 2000; 61(5): 1369–76.

- Cannistra SA, Niloff JM. Cancer of the uterine cervix. N Engl J Med 1996; 334(16): 1030–8.
- Cataltepe S, Gornstein ER, Schick C, Kamachi Y, Chatson K, Fries J, et al. Co-expression of the squamous cell carcinoma antigens 1 and 2 in normal adult human tissues and squamous cell carcinomas. J Histochem Cytochem 2000; 48(1): 113–22.

Cataltepe S, Schick C, Luke CJ, Pak SC, Goldfarb D, Chen P, et al. Development of specific monoclonal antibodies and a sensitive discriminatory immunoassay for the circulating tumor markers SCCA1 and SCCA2. Clin Chim Acta 2000; 295(1–2): 107–27.

Chen X, Kwok PY. Template-directed dye-terminator incorporation (TDI) assay: a homogeneous DNA diagnostic method based on fluorescence resonance energy transfer. Nucleic Acids Res 1997; 25(2): 347–53.

Chen X, Zehnbauer B, Gnirke A, Kwok PY. Fluorescence energy transfer detection as a homogeneous DNA diagnostic method. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997; 94(20): 10756–61.

- Chen X, Livak KJ, Kwok PY. A homogeneous, ligase-mediated DNA diagnostic test. Genome Res 1998; 8(5): 549–56.
- Chichareon S, Herrero R, Munoz N, Bosch FX, Jacobs MV, Deacon J, et al. Risk factors for cervical cancer in Thailand: a case-control study. J Natl Cancer Inst 1998; 90(1): 50–7.
- Chien YC, Chen JY, Liu MY, Yang HI, Hsu MM, Chen CJ, et al. Serologic markers of Epstein-Barr virus infection and nasopharyngeal carcinoma in Taiwanese men. N Engl J Med 2001; 345(26): 1877–82.
- Chomczynski P, Sacchi N. Single-step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidinium thiocyanate- phenol-chloroform extraction. Anal Biochem 1987; 162(1): 156–9.
- Clayman GL, Lippman SM, Laramore GE, Hong WK. Head and neck Cancer. In: Holland JF, Frei E, Bast RCJ, Kufe DW, L. MD, Weichselbaum R, editors. Cancer medicine. Philadelphia: Williams & Wilkins; 1996. p. 1645–709.
- Colgan TJ, Patten SF, Jr., Lee JS. A clinical trial of the AutoPap 300 QC system for quality control of cervicovaginal cytology in the clinical laboratory. Acta Cytol 1995; 39(6): 1191–8.
- Compton J. Nucleic acid sequence-based amplification. Nature 1991; 350(6313): 91–2.
- Conner BJ, Reyes AA, Morin C, Itakura K, Teplitz RL, Wallace RB. Detection of sickle cell beta S-globin allele by hybridization with synthetic oligonucleotides. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1983; 80(1): 278–82.
- Cortesina G, Martone T, Galeazzi E, Olivero M, De Stefani A, Bussi M, et al. Staging of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma using the MET oncogene product as marker of tumor cells in lymph node metastases. Int J Cancer 2000; 89(3): 286–92.
- Creasman WT. New gynecologic cancer staging. Gynecol Oncol 1995; 58(2): 157–8.
- Crombach G, Scharl A, Vierbuchen M, Wurz H, Bolte A. Detection of squamous cell carcinoma antigen in normal squamous epithelia and in squamous cell carcinomas of the uterine cervix. Cancer 1989; 63(7): 1337–42.
- Crum CP, Ikenberg H, Richart RM, Gissman L. Human papillomavirus type 16 and early cervical neoplasia. N Engl J Med 1984; 310(14): 880–3.
- Crum CP, Mitao M, Levine RU, Silverstein S. Cervical papillomaviruses segregate within morphologically distinct precancerous lesions. J Virol 1985; 54(3): 675–81.
- Despopoulos A, Silbernagl S. Color Atlas of Physiology. 3rd ed. Stuttgart, Germany: Georg Thieme Verlag; 1986.
- DiSaia PJ, Creasman WT. Clinical gynecologic oncology. 5th ed. St. Louis: Mosby; 1997.

- Duk JM, van Voorst Vader PC, ten Hoor KA, Hollema H, Doeglas HM, de Bruijn HW. Elevated levels of squamous cell carcinoma antigen in patients with a benign disease of the skin. Cancer 1989; 64(8): 1652–6.
- Duk JM, Groenier KH, de Bruijn HW, Hollema H, ten Hoor KA, van der Zee AG, et al. Pretreatment serum squamous cell carcinoma antigen: a newly identified prognostic factor in early-stage cervical carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 1996; 14(1): 111–8.
- Dyson N, Howley PM, Munger K, Harlow E. The human papilloma virus-16 E7 oncoprotein is able to bind to the retinoblastoma gene product. Science 1989; 243(4893): 934–7.
- Ellis JR, Keating PJ, Baird J, Hounsell EF, Renouf DV, Rowe M, et al. The association of an HPV16 oncogene variant with HLA-B7 has implications for vaccine design in cervical cancer. Nat Med 1995; 1(5): 464–70.
- Emmert-Buck MR, Bonner RF, Smith PD, Chuaqui RF, Zhuang Z, Goldstein SR, et al. Laser capture microdissection. Science 1996; 274(5289): 998–1001.
- Fearon ER, Vogelstein B. A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell 1990; 61(5): 759–67.
- Fejzo MS, Slamon DJ. Frozen tumor tissue microarray technology for analysis of tumor RNA, DNA, and proteins. Am J Pathol 2001; 159(5): 1645–50.
- Fire A, Xu SQ. Rolling replication of short DNA circles. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995; 92(10): 4641–5.
- Fodor SP, Read JL, Pirrung MC, Stryer L, Lu AT, Solas D. Light-directed, spatially addressable parallel chemical synthesis. Science 1991; 251(4995): 767–73.
- Fodor SP, Rava RP, Huang XC, Pease AC, Holmes CP, Adams CL. Multiplexed biochemical assays with biological chips. Nature 1993; 364(6437): 555–6.
- Forastiere A, Koch W, Trotti A, Sidransky D. Head and neck cancer. N Engl J Med 2001; 345(26): 1890–900.
- Fuith LC, Daxenbichler G. Squamous cell carcinoma antigen in patients with cancer of the uterine cervix. Gynecol Obstet Invest 1988; 26(1): 77–82.
- Gibson UE, Heid CA, Williams PM. A novel method for real time quantitative RT-PCR. Genome Res 1996; 6(10): 995–1001.
- Gilliland G, Perrin S, Blanchard K, Bunn HF. Analysis of cytokine mRNA and DNA: detection and quantitation by competitive polymerase chain reaction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990; 87(7): 2725–9.
- Gillison ML, Koch WM, Capone RB, Spafford M, Westra WH, Wu L, et al. Evidence for a causal association between human papillomavirus and a subset of head and neck cancers. J Natl Cancer Inst 2000; 92(9): 709–20.
- Gosztonyi G, Artigas J, Lamperth L, Webster HD. Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) distribution in HIV encephalitis: study of 19 cases with combined use of in situ hybridization and immunocytochemistry. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 1994; 53(5): 521–34.
- Grandis JR, Melhem MF, Gooding WE, Day R, Holst VA, Wagener MM, et al. Levels of TGF-alpha and EGFR protein in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma and patient survival. J Natl Cancer Inst 1998; 90(11): 824–32.
- Guatelli JC, Whitfield KM, Kwoh DY, Barringer KJ, Richman DD, Gingeras TR. Isothermal, in vitro amplification of nucleic acids by a multienzyme reaction modeled after retroviral replication. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990; 87(19): 7797.
- Haase AT, Retzel EF, Staskus KA. Amplification and detection of lentiviral DNA inside cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990; 87(13): 4971–5.
- Hamakawa H, Fukizumi M, Bao Y, Sumida T, Onishi A, Tanioka H, et al. Genetic diagnosis of micrometastasis based on SCC antigen mRNA in cervical lymph nodes of head and neck cancer. Clin Exp Metastasis 1999; 17(7): 593–9.
- Harro CD, Pang YY, Roden RB, Hildesheim A, Wang Z, Reynolds

MJ, et al. Safety and immunogenicity trial in adult volunteers of a human papillomavirus 16 L1 virus-like particle vaccine. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001; 93(4): 284–92.

- Hartwell LH, Kastan MB. Cell cycle control and cancer. Science 1994; 266(5192): 1821–8.
- Heck DV, Yee CL, Howley PM, Munger K. Efficiency of binding the retinoblastoma protein correlates with the transforming capacity of the E7 oncoproteins of the human papillomaviruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1992; 89(10): 4442–6.
- Hedenfalk I, Duggan D, Chen Y, Radmacher M, Bittner M, Simon R, et al. Gene-expression profiles in hereditary breast cancer. N Engl J Med 2001; 344(8): 539–48.
- Heise C, Sampson-Johannes A, Williams A, McCormick F, Von Hoff DD, Kirn DH. ONYX-015, an E1B gene-attenuated adenovirus, causes tumor-specific cytolysis and antitumoral efficacy that can be augmented by standard chemotherapeutic agents. Nat Med 1997; 3(6): 639–45.
- Heise CC, Williams AM, Xue S, Propst M, Kirn DH. Intravenous administration of ONYX-015, a selectively replicating adenovirus, induces antitumoral efficacy. Cancer Res 1999; 59(11): 2623–8.
- Henke W, Jung M, Jung K, Lein M, Schlechte H, Berndt C, et al. Increased analytical sensitivity of RT-PCR of PSA mRNA decreases diagnostic specificity of detection of prostatic cells in blood. Int J Cancer 1997; 70(1): 52–6.
- Higuchi R, Dollinger G, Walsh PS, Griffith R. Simultaneous amplification and detection of specific DNA sequences. Biotechnology (N Y) 1992; 10(4): 413–7.
- Hildesheim A, Schiffman M, Bromley C, Wacholder S, Herrero R, Rodriguez A, et al. Human papillomavirus type 16 variants and risk of cervical cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001; 93(4): 315–8.
- Holland PM, Abramson RD, Watson R, Gelfand DH. Detection of specific polymerase chain reaction product by utilizing the 5'----3' exonuclease activity of Thermus aquaticus DNA polymerase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1991; 88(16): 7276–80.
- Howley PM. Role of the human papillomaviruses in human cancer. Cancer Res 1991; 51(18 Suppl): 5019s-5022s.
- Howley PM. Role of the human papillomaviruses in human cancer. Cancer Res 1991; 51(18 Suppl): 5019s-5022s.
- Ihalainen J, Siitari H, Laine S, Syvanen AC, Palotie A. Towards automatic detection of point mutations: use of scintillating microplates in solidphase minisequencing. Biotechniques 1994; 16(5): 938–43.
- Ikonen E, Manninen T, Peltonen L, Syvanen AC. Quantitative determination of rare mRNA species by PCR and solid-phase minisequencing. PCR Methods Appl 1992; 1(4): 234–40.
- Jaakkola S, Vornanen T, Leinonen J, Rannikko S, Stenman UH. Detection of prostatic cells in peripheral blood: correlation with serum concentrations of prostate-specific antigen. Clin Chem 1995; 41(2): 182–6.
- Jalava T, Lehtovaara P, Kallio A, Ranki M, Soderlund H. Quantification of hepatitis B virus DNA by competitive amplification and hybridization on microplates. Biotechniques 1993; 15(1): 134–9.
- Janicek MF, Averette HE. Cervical cancer: prevention, diagnosis, and therapeutics. CA Cancer J Clin 2001; 51(2): 92–114; quiz 115–8.
- Jares P, Fernandez PL, Campo E, Nadal A, Bosch F, Aiza G, et al. PRAD-1/cyclin D1 gene amplification correlates with messenger RNA overexpression and tumor progression in human laryngeal carcinomas. Cancer Res 1994; 54(17): 4813–7.
- Kafatos FC, Jones CW, Efstratiadis A. Determination of nucleic acid sequence homologies and relative concentrations by a dot hybridization procedure. Nucleic Acids Res 1979; 7(6): 1541–52.
- Kamb A, Gruis NA, Weaver-Feldhaus J, Liu Q, Harshman K, Tavtigian SV, et al. A cell cycle regulator potentially involved in genesis of many tumor types. Science 1994; 264(5157): 436–40.
- Karrer EE, Lincoln JE, Hogenhout S, Bennett AB, Bostock RM, Martineau B, et al. In situ isolation of mRNA from individual

plant cells: creation of cell- specific cDNA libraries. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995; 92(9): 3814–8.

- Karttunen L, Lonnqvist L, Godfrey M, Peltonen L, Syvanen AC. An accurate method for comparing transcript levels of two alleles or highly homologous genes: application to fibrillin transcripts in Marfan patients' fibroblasts. Genome Res 1996; 6(5): 392–403.
- Kato H, Torigoe T. Radioimmunoassay for tumor antigen of human cervical squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer 1977; 40(4): 1621–8.
- Kato H, Nagaya T, Torigoe T. Heterogeneity of a tumor antigen TA-4 of squamous cell carcinoma in relation to its appearance in the circulation. Gann 1984; 75(5): 433–5.
- Keys HM, Bundy BN, Stehman FB, Muderspach LI, Chafe WE, Suggs CL, 3rd, et al. Cisplatin, radiation, and adjuvant hysterectomy compared with radiation and adjuvant hysterectomy for bulky stage IB cervical carcinoma. N Engl J Med 1999; 340(15): 1154–61.
- Klein RS, Ho GY, Vermund SH, Fleming I, Burk RD. Risk factors for squamous intraepithelial lesions on Pap smear in women at risk for human immunodeficiency virus infection. J Infect Dis 1994; 170(6): 1404–9.
- Ko Y, Grunewald E, Totzke G, Klinz M, Fronhoffs S, Gouni-Berthold I, et al. High percentage of false-positive results of cytokeratin 19 RT-PCR in blood: a model for the analysis of illegitimate gene expression. Oncology 2000; 59(1): 81–8.
- Koch WM, Brennan JA, Zahurak M, Goodman SN, Westra WH, Schwab D, et al. p53 mutation and locoregional treatment failure in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 1996; 88(21): 1580–6.
- Koch WM, Choti MA, Civelek AC, Eisele DW, Saunders JR. Gamma probe-directed biopsy of the sentinel node in oral squamous cell carcinoma. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1998; 124(4): 455–9.
- Kononen J, Bubendorf L, Kallioniemi A, Barlund M, Schraml P, Leighton S, et al. Tissue microarrays for high-throughput molecular profiling of tumor specimens. Nat Med 1998; 4(7): 844–7.
- Koutsky LA, Holmes KK, Critchlow CW, Stevens CE, Paavonen J, Beckmann AM, et al. A cohort study of the risk of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 2 or 3 in relation to papillomavirus infection. N Engl J Med 1992; 327(18): 1272–8.
- Kubo Y, Klimek F, Kikuchi Y, Bannasch P, Hino O. Early detection of Knudson's two-hits in preneoplastic renal cells of the Eker rat model by the laser microdissection procedure. Cancer Res 1995; 55(5): 989–90.
- Kurman RJ, Malkasian GD, Jr., Sedlis A, Solomon D. From Papanicolaou to Bethesda: the rationale for a new cervical cytologic classification. Obstet Gynecol 1991; 77(5): 779–82.
- Kuwano A, Kondo I, Kishi F, Suminami Y, Kato H. Assignment of the squamous cell carcinoma antigen locus (SCC) to 18q21 by in situ hybridization. Genomics 1995; 30(3): 626.
- Kwoh DY, Davis GR, Whitfield KM, Chappelle HL, DiMichele LJ, Gingeras TR. Transcription-based amplification system and detection of amplified human immunodeficiency virus type 1 with a bead-based sandwich hybridization format. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1989; 86(4): 1173–7.
- Landegren U, Kaiser R, Sanders J, Hood L. A ligase-mediated gene detection technique. Science 1988; 241(4869): 1077–80.
- Lara PC, Cuyas JM. The role of squamous cell carcinoma antigen in the management of laryngeal and hypopharyngeal cancer. Cancer 1995; 76(5): 758–64.
- Lefebvre JL, Chevalier D, Luboinski B, Kirkpatrick A, Collette L, Sahmoud T. Larynx preservation in pyriform sinus cancer: preliminary results of a European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer phase III trial. EORTC Head and Neck Cancer Cooperative Group. J Natl Cancer Inst 1996; 88(13): 890–9.
- Lennon GG, Lehrach H. Hybridization analyses of arrayed cDNA libraries. Trends Genet 1991; 7(10): 314–7.
- Leone G, van Schijndel H, van Gemen B, Kramer FR, Schoen CD.

Jakob Stenman

Molecular beacon probes combined with amplification by NASBA enable homogeneous, real-time detection of RNA. Nucleic Acids Res 1998; 26(9): 2150–5.

- Leong PP, Rezai B, Koch WM, Reed A, Eisele D, Lee DJ, et al. Distinguishing second primary tumors from lung metastases in patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 1998; 90(13): 972–7.
- Lintula S, Stenman UH. The expression of prostate-specific membrane antigen in peripheral blood leukocytes. J Urol 1997; 157(5): 1969–72.
- Lipshutz RJ, Fodor SP, Gingeras TR, Lockhart DJ. High density synthetic oligonucleotide arrays. Nat Genet 1999; 21(1 Suppl): 20–4.
- Livak KJ, Flood SJ, Marmaro J, Giusti W, Deetz K. Oligonucleotides with fluorescent dyes at opposite ends provide a quenched probe system useful for detecting PCR product and nucleic acid hybridization. PCR Methods Appl 1995; 4(6): 357–62.
- Lizardi PM, Huang X, Zhu Z, Bray-Ward P, Thomas DC, Ward DC. Mutation detection and single-molecule counting using isothermal rolling-circle amplification. Nat Genet 1998; 19(3): 225–32.
- Lo YM, Chan LY, Lo KW, Leung SF, Zhang J, Chan AT, et al. Quantitative analysis of cell-free Epstein-Barr virus DNA in plasma of patients with nasopharyngeal carcinoma. Cancer Res 1999; 59(6): 1188–91.
- Lorincz AT, Reid R, Jenson AB, Greenberg MD, Lancaster W, Kurman RJ. Human papillomavirus infection of the cervix: relative risk associations of 15 common anogenital types. Obstet Gynecol 1992; 79(3): 328–37.
- Maiman M, Fruchter RG, Serur E, Levine PA, Arrastia CD, Sedlis A. Recurrent cervical intraepithelial neoplasia in human immunodeficiency virus-seropositive women. Obstet Gynecol 1993; 82(2): 170–4.
- Maiman M, Fruchter RG, Guy L, Cuthill S, Levine P, Serur E. Human immunodeficiency virus infection and invasive cervical carcinoma. Cancer 1993; 71(2): 402–6.
- Manos MM, Kinney WK, Hurley LB, Sherman ME, Shieh-Ngai J, Kurman RJ, et al. Identifying women with cervical neoplasia: using human papillomavirus DNA testing for equivocal Papanicolaou results. Jama 1999; 281(17): 1605–10.
- Matsuki Y, Yamamoto T, Hara K. Detection of inflammatory cytokine messenger RNA (mRNA)-expressing cells in human inflamed gingiva by combined in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry. Immunology 1992; 76(1): 42–7.
- Mendelsohn J. Epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition by a monoclonal antibody as anticancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res 1997; 3(12 Pt 2): 2703–7.
- Miller AB, Nazeer S, Fonn S, Brandup-Lukanow A, Rehman R, Cronje H, et al. Report on consensus conference on cervical cancer screening and management. Int J Cancer 2000; 86(3): 440–7.
- Morris M, Eifel PJ, Lu J, Grigsby PW, Levenback C, Stevens RE, et al. Pelvic radiation with concurrent chemotherapy compared with pelvic and para-aortic radiation for high-risk cervical cancer. N Engl J Med 1999; 340(15): 1137–43.
- Mullis K, Faloona F, Scharf S, Saiki R, Horn G, Erlich H. Specific enzymatic amplification of DNA in vitro: the polymerase chain reaction. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 1986; 51(Pt 1): 263–73.
- Mullis KB, Faloona FA. Specific synthesis of DNA in vitro via a polymerase-catalyzed chain reaction. Methods Enzymol 1987; 155: 335–50.
- Munger K, Werness BA, Dyson N, Phelps WC, Harlow E, Howley PM. Complex formation of human papillomavirus E7 proteins with the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor gene product. Embo J 1989; 8(13): 4099–105.
- Munro J, Stott FJ, Vousden KH, Peters G, Parkinson EK. Role of the alternative INK4A proteins in human keratinocyte senescence: evidence for the specific inactivation of p16INK4A upon immortalization. Cancer Res 1999; 59(11): 2516–21.

- Nawroz H, van der Riet P, Hruban RH, Koch W, Ruppert JM, Sidransky D. Allelotype of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Res 1994; 54(5): 1152–5.
- Nazarenko IA, Bhatnagar SK, Hohman RJ. A closed tube format for amplification and detection of DNA based on energy transfer. Nucleic Acids Res 1997; 25(12): 2516–21.
- Nedelman J, Heagerty P, Lawrence C. Quantitative PCR with internal controls. Comput Appl Biosci 1992; 8(1): 65–70.
- Ngelangel C, Munoz N, Bosch FX, Limson GM, Festin MR, Deacon J, et al. Causes of cervical cancer in the Philippines: a case-control study. J Natl Cancer Inst 1998; 90(1): 43–9.
- Nilsson M, Malmgren H, Samiotaki M, Kwiatkowski M, Chowdhary BP, Landegren U. Padlock probes: circularizing oligonucleotides for localized DNA detection. Science 1994; 265(5181): 2085–8.
- Nilsson M, Krejci K, Koch J, Kwiatkowski M, Gustavsson P, Landegren U. Padlock probes reveal single-nucleotide differences, parent of origin and in situ distribution of centromeric sequences in human chromosomes 13 and 21. Nat Genet 1997; 16(3): 252–5.
- Nuovo GJ, Gorgone GA, MacConnell P, Margiotta M, Gorevic PD. In situ localization of PCR-amplified human and viral cDNAs. PCR Methods Appl 1992; 2(2): 117–23.
- Nuovo GJ, Hohman RJ, Nardone GA, Nazarenko IA. In situ amplification using universal energy transfer-labeled primers. J Histochem Cytochem 1999; 47(3): 273–80.
- Nuovo GJ. Co-labeling using in situ PCR: a review. J Histochem Cytochem 2001; 49(11): 1329–39.
- Pannetier C, Delassus S, Darche S, Saucier C, Kourilsky P. Quantitative titration of nucleic acids by enzymatic amplification reactions run to saturation. Nucleic Acids Res 1993; 21(3): 577–83.
- Papadimitrakopoulou V, Izzo J, Lippman SM, Lee JS, Fan YH, Clayman G, et al. Frequent inactivation of p16INK4a in oral premalignant lesions. Oncogene 1997; 14(15): 1799–803.
- Park DJ, Wilczynski SP, Paquette RL, Miller CW, Koeffler HP. p53 mutations in HPV-negative cervical carcinoma. Oncogene 1994; 9(1): 205–10.
- Parkin DM, Pisani P, Ferlay J. Estimates of the worldwide incidence of 25 major cancers in 1990. Int J Cancer 1999; 80(6): 827–41.
- Parkin DM. Global cancer statistics in the year 2000. Lancet Oncol 2001; 2(Sept): 533–43.
- Partridge M, Pateromichelakis S, Phillips E, Emilion GG, A'Hern RP, Langdon JD. A case-control study confirms that microsatellite assay can identify patients at risk of developing oral squamous cell carcinoma within a field of cancerization. Cancer Res 2000; 60(14): 3893–8.
- Partridge M, Li SR, Pateromichelakis S, Francis R, Phillips E, Huang XH, et al. Detection of minimal residual cancer to investigate why oral tumors recur despite seemingly adequate treatment. Clin Cancer Res 2000; 6(7): 2718–25.
- Pastinen T, Partanen J, Syvanen AC. Multiplex, fluorescent, solid-phase minisequencing for efficient screening of DNA sequence variation. Clin Chem 1996; 42(9): 1391–7.
- Pastinen T, Kurg A, Metspalu A, Peltonen L, Syvanen AC. Minisequencing: a specific tool for DNA analysis and diagnostics on oligonucleotide arrays. Genome Res 1997; 7(6): 606–14.
- Pastinen T, Perola M, Niini P, Terwilliger J, Salomaa V, Vartiainen E, et al. Array-based multiplex analysis of candidate genes reveals two independent and additive genetic risk factors for myocardial infarction in the Finnish population. Hum Mol Genet 1998; 7(9): 1453–62.
- Pastinen T, Raitio M, Lindroos K, Tainola P, Peltonen L, Syvanen AC. A system for specific, high-throughput genotyping by allele-specific primer extension on microarrays. Genome Res 2000; 10(7): 1031–42.
- Payne N, Chilcott J, McGoogan E. Liquid-based cytology in cervical screening: a rapid and systematic review. Health Technol Assess 2000; 4(18): 1–73.

- Pease AC, Solas D, Sullivan EJ, Cronin MT, Holmes CP, Fodor SP. Light-generated oligonucleotide arrays for rapid DNA sequence analysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994; 91(11): 5022–6.
- Perou CM, Sorlie T, Eisen MB, van de Rijn M, Jeffrey SS, Rees CA, et al. Molecular portraits of human breast turnours. Nature 2000; 406(6797): 747–52.
- Peters WA, 3rd, Liu PY, Barrett RJ, 2nd, Stock RJ, Monk BJ, Berek JS, et al. Concurrent chemotherapy and pelvic radiation therapy compared with pelvic radiation therapy alone as adjuvant therapy after radical surgery in high-risk early-stage cancer of the cervix. J Clin Oncol 2000; 18(8): 1606–13.
- Piatak M, Jr., Saag MS, Yang LC, Clark SJ, Kappes JC, Luk KC, et al. High levels of HIV-1 in plasma during all stages of infection determined by competitive PCR. Science 1993; 259(5102): 1749–54.
- Piatek AS, Tyagi S, Pol AC, Telenti A, Miller LP, Kramer FR, et al. Molecular beacon sequence analysis for detecting drug resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Nat Biotechnol 1998; 16(4): 359–63.
- Raeymaekers L. Basic principles of quantitative PCR. Mol Biotechnol 2000; 15(2): 115–22.
- Rassekh CH, Johnson JT, Eibling DE. Circulating markers in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck: a review. Eur J Cancer B Oral Oncol 1994; 30B(1): 23–8.
- Reed AL, Califano J, Cairns P, Westra WH, Jones RM, Koch W, et al. High frequency of p16 (CDKN2/MTS-1/INK4A) inactivation in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Res 1996; 56(16): 3630–3.
- Rellihan MA, Dooley DP, Burke TW, Berkland ME, Longfield RN. Rapidly progressing cervical cancer in a patient with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Gynecol Oncol 1990; 36(3): 435–8.
- Richter J, Wagner U, Kononen J, Fijan A, Bruderer J, Schmid U, et al. High-throughput tissue microarray analysis of cyclin E gene amplification and overexpression in urinary bladder cancer. Am J Pathol 2000; 157(3): 787–94.
- Rose PG, Bundy BN, Watkins EB, Thigpen JT, Deppe G, Maiman MA, et al. Concurrent cisplatin-based radiotherapy and chemotherapy for locally advanced cervical cancer. N Engl J Med 1999; 340(15): 1144–53.
- Rosin MP, Cheng X, Poh C, Lam WL, Huang Y, Lovas J, et al. Use of allelic loss to predict malignant risk for low-grade oral epithelial dysplasia. Clin Cancer Res 2000; 6(2): 357–62.
- Ross DT, Scherf U, Eisen MB, Perou CM, Rees C, Spellman P, et al. Systematic variation in gene expression patterns in human cancer cell lines. Nat Genet 2000; 24(3): 227–35.
- Rychlik W. Priming efficiency in PCR. Biotechniques 1995; 18(1): 84–6, 88–90.
- Saiki RK, Bugawan TL, Horn GT, Mullis KB, Erlich HA. Analysis of enzymatically amplified beta-globin and HLA-DQ alpha DNA with allele-specific oligonucleotide probes. Nature 1986; 324(6093): 163–6.
- Sawaya GF, Brown AD, Washington AE, Garber AM. Clinical practice. Current approaches to cervical-cancer screening. N Engl J Med 2001; 344(21): 1603–7.
- Scheffner M, Werness BA, Huibregtse JM, Levine AJ, Howley PM. The E6 oncoprotein encoded by human papillomavirus types 16 and 18 promotes the degradation of p53. Cell 1990; 63(6): 1129– 36.
- Scheffner M, Munger K, Byrne JC, Howley PM. The state of the p53 and retinoblastoma genes in human cervical carcinoma cell lines. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1991; 88(13): 5523–7.
- Schena M, Shalon D, Davis RW, Brown PO. Quantitative monitoring of gene expression patterns with a complementary DNA microarray. Science 1995; 270(5235): 467–70.
- Schena M, Shalon D, Heller R, Chai A, Brown PO, Davis RW. Parallel human genome analysis: microarray-based expression monitoring of 1000 genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996; 93(20): 10614–9.

- Schick C, Kamachi Y, Bartuski AJ, Cataltepe S, Schechter NM, Pemberton PA, et al. Squamous cell carcinoma antigen 2 is a novel serpin that inhibits the chymotrypsin-like proteinases cathepsin G and mast cell chymase. J Biol Chem 1997; 272(3): 1849–55.
- Schick C, Pemberton PA, Shi GP, Kamachi Y, Cataltepe S, Bartuski AJ, et al. Cross-class inhibition of the cysteine proteinases cathepsins K, L, and S by the serpin squamous cell carcinoma antigen 1: a kinetic analysis. Biochemistry 1998; 37(15): 5258–66.
- Schick C, Bromme D, Bartuski AJ, Uemura Y, Schechter NM, Silverman GA. The reactive site loop of the serpin SCCA1 is essential for cysteine proteinase inhibition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998; 95(23): 13465–70.
- Schiffman M, Hildesheim A, Herrero R, Bratti C. Human papillomavirus testing as a screening tool for cervical cancer. Jama 2000; 283(19): 2525–6.
- Schneider SS, Schick C, Fish KE, Miller E, Pena JC, Treter SD, et al. A serine proteinase inhibitor locus at 18q21.3 contains a tandem duplication of the human squamous cell carcinoma antigen gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995; 92(8): 3147–51.
- Schraml P, Kononen J, Bubendorf L, Moch H, Bissig H, Nocito A, et al. Tissue microarrays for gene amplification surveys in many different tumor types. Clin Cancer Res 1999; 5(8): 1966–75.
- Schutze K, Lahr G. Identification of expressed genes by laser-mediated manipulation of single cells. Nat Biotechnol 1998; 16(8): 737–42.
- Senekjian EK, Young JM, Weiser PA, Spencer CE, Magic SE, Herbst AL. An evaluation of squamous cell carcinoma antigen in patients with cervical squamous cell carcinoma. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1987; 157(2): 433–9.
- Shalon D, Smith SJ, Brown PO. A DNA microarray system for analyzing complex DNA samples using two- color fluorescent probe hybridization. Genome Res 1996; 6(7): 639–45.
- Sherr CJ. The INK4a/ARF network in tumour suppression. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2001; 2(10): 731–7.
- Shingleton HM, Patrick RL, Johnston WW, Smith RA. The current status of the Papanicolaou smear. CA Cancer J Clin 1995; 45(5): 305–20.
- Shotelersuk K, Khorprasert C, Sakdikul S, Pornthanakasem W, Voravud N, Mutirangura A. Epstein-Barr virus DNA in serum/plasma as a tumor marker for nasopharyngeal cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2000; 6(3): 1046–51.
- Simon R. Confidence intervals for reporting results of clinical trials. Ann Intern Med 1986; 105(3): 429–35.
- Simone NL, Bonner RF, Gillespie JW, Emmert-Buck MR, Liotta LA. Laser-capture microdissection: opening the microscopic frontier to molecular analysis. Trends Genet 1998; 14(7): 272–6.
- Singer-Sam J, LeBon JM, Dai A, Riggs AD. A sensitive, quantitative assay for measurement of allele-specific transcripts differing by a single nucleotide. PCR Methods Appl 1992; 1(3): 160–3.
- Singer-Sam J, Chapman V, LeBon JM, Riggs AD. Parental imprinting studied by allele-specific primer extension after PCR: paternal X chromosome-linked genes are transcribed prior to preferential paternal X chromosome inactivation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1992; 89(21): 10469–73.
- Slattery ML, Robison LM, Schuman KL, French TK, Abbott TM, Overall JC, Jr., et al. Cigarette smoking and exposure to passive smoke are risk factors for cervical cancer. Jama 1989; 261(11): 1593–8.
- Slaughter DP, Southwich HW, Smejkal W. Field cancerization in oral stratified squamous epithelium: clinical implications of multicentric origin. Cancer 1953; 6: 963–8.
- Smith B, Selby P, Southgate J, Pittman K, Bradley C, Blair GE. Detection of melanoma cells in peripheral blood by means of reverse transcriptase and polymerase chain reaction. Lancet 1991; 338(8777): 1227–9.
- Snyderman CH, D'Amico F, Wagner R, Eibling DE. A reappraisal of

Jakob Stenman

the squamous cell carcinoma antigen as a tumor marker in head and neck cancer. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1995; 121(11): 1294–7.

- Sokol DL, Zhang X, Lu P, Gewirtz AM. Real time detection of DNA.RNA hybridization in living cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998; 95(20): 11538–43.
- Solomon D, Schiffman M, Tarone R. Comparison of three management strategies for patients with atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance: baseline results from a randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001; 93(4): 293–9.
- Solomon D, Schiffman M, Tarone R. Comparison of three management strategies for patients with atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance: baseline results from a randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001; 93(4): 293–9.
- Southern EM. Detection of specific sequences among DNA fragments separated by gel electrophoresis. J Mol Biol 1975; 98(3): 503–17.
- Southern EM, Maskos U, Elder JK. Analyzing and comparing nucleic acid sequences by hybridization to arrays of oligonucleotides: evaluation using experimental models. Genomics 1992; 13(4): 1008–17.
- Sudbo J, Kildal W, Risberg B, Koppang HS, Danielsen HE, Reith A. DNA content as a prognostic marker in patients with oral leukoplakia. N Engl J Med 2001; 344(17): 1270–8.
- Suminami Y, Kishi F, Sekiguchi K, Kato H. Squamous cell carcinoma antigen is a new member of the serine protease inhibitors. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1991; 181(1): 51–8.
- Suminami Y, Nagashima S, Vujanovic NL, Hirabayashi K, Kato H, Whiteside TL. Inhibition of apoptosis in human tumour cells by the tumour-associated serpin, SCC antigen-1. Br J Cancer 2000; 82(4): 981–9.
- Suminami Y, Nagashima S, Murakami A, Nawata S, Gondo T, Hirakawa H, et al. Suppression of a squamous cell carcinoma (SCC)-related serpin, SCC antigen, inhibits tumor growth with increased intratumor infiltration of natural killer cells. Cancer Res 2001; 61(5): 1776–80.
- Sykes PJ, Neoh SH, Brisco MJ, Hughes E, Condon J, Morley AA. Quantitation of targets for PCR by use of limiting dilution. Biotechniques 1992; 13(3): 444–9.
- Syrjanen K, Mantyjarvi R, Saarikoski S, Vayrynen M, Syrjanen S, Parkkinen S, et al. Factors associated with progression of cervical human papillomavirus (HPV) infections into carcinoma in situ during a long-term prospective follow-up. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1988; 95(11): 1096–102.
- Syvanen AC, Aalto-Setala K, Harju L, Kontula K, Soderlund H. A primer-guided nucleotide incorporation assay in the genotyping of apolipoprotein E. Genomics 1990; 8(4): 684–92.
- Syvanen AC, Soderlund H, Laaksonen E, Bengtstrom M, Turunen M, Palotie A. N-ras gene mutations in acute myeloid leukemia: accurate detection by solid-phase minisequencing. Int J Cancer 1992; 50(5): 713–8.
- Syvanen AC, Ikonen E, Manninen T, Bengtstrom M, Soderlund H, Aula P, et al. Convenient and quantitative determination of the frequency of a mutant allele using solid-phase minisequencing: application to aspartylglucosaminuria in Finland. Genomics 1992; 12(3): 590–5.
- Takeshima N, Suminami Y, Takeda O, Abe H, Okuno N, Kato H. Expression of mRNA of SCC antigen in squamous cells. Tumour Biol 1992; 13(5–6): 338–42.
- Tyagi S, Kramer FR. Molecular beacons: probes that fluoresce upon hybridization. Nat Biotechnol 1996; 14(3): 303–8.
- Tyagi S, Marras SA, Kramer FR. Wavelength-shifting molecular beacons. Nat Biotechnol 2000; 18(11): 1191–6.
- Uemura Y, Pak SC, Luke C, Cataltepe S, Tsu C, Schick C, et al. Circulating serpin tumor markers SCCA1 and SCCA2 are not actively

secreted but reside in the cytosol of squamous carcinoma cells. Int J Cancer 2000; 89(4): 368–77.

- Velculescu VE, Zhang L, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. Serial analysis of gene expression. Science 1995; 270(5235): 484–7.
- Vet JA, Majithia AR, Marras SA, Tyagi S, Dube S, Poiesz BJ, et al. Multiplex detection of four pathogenic retroviruses using molecular beacons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999; 96(11): 6394–9.
- Vokes EE, Weichselbaum RR, Lippman SM, Hong WK. Head and neck cancer. N Engl J Med 1993; 328(3): 184–94.
- Walboomers JM, Jacobs MV, Manos MM, Bosch FX, Kummer JA, Shah KV, et al. Human papillomavirus is a necessary cause of invasive cervical cancer worldwide. J Pathol 1999; 189(1): 12–9.
- Wallace RB, Shaffer J, Murphy RF, Bonner J, Hirose T, Itakura K. Hybridization of synthetic oligodeoxyribonucleotides to phi chi 174 DNA: the effect of single base pair mismatch. Nucleic Acids Res 1979; 6(11): 3543–57.
- Wang AM, Doyle MV, Mark DF. Quantitation of mRNA by the polymerase chain reaction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1989; 86(24): 9717–21.
- Werness BA, Levine AJ, Howley PM. Association of human papillomavirus types 16 and 18 E6 proteins with p53. Science 1990; 248(4951): 76–9.
- Whitney CW, Sause W, Bundy BN, Malfetano JH, Hannigan EV, Fowler WC, Jr., et al. Randomized comparison of fluorouracil plus cisplatin versus hydroxyurea as an adjunct to radiation therapy in stage IIB-IVA carcinoma of the cervix with negative para-aortic lymph nodes: a Gynecologic Oncology Group and Southwest Oncology Group study. J Clin Oncol 1999; 17(5): 1339–48.
- Willett GD, Kurman RJ, Reid R, Greenberg M, Jenson AB, Lorincz AT. Correlation of the histologic appearance of intraepithelial neoplasia of the cervix with human papillomavirus types. Emphasis on low grade lesions including so-called flat condyloma. Int J Gynecol Pathol 1989; 8(1): 18–25.
- Wittwer CT, Herrmann MG, Moss AA, Rasmussen RP. Continuous fluorescence monitoring of rapid cycle DNA amplification. Biotechniques 1997; 22(1): 130–1, 134–8.
- Wu DY, Wallace RB. The ligation amplification reaction (LAR)--amplification of specific DNA sequences using sequential rounds of template-dependent ligation. Genomics 1989; 4(4): 560–9.
- Zhang LF, Zhou J, Chen S, Cai LL, Bao QY, Zheng FY, et al. HPV6b virus like particles are potent immunogens without adjuvant in man. Vaccine 2000; 18(11–12): 1051–8.
- Zhong XB, Lizardi PM, Huang XH, Bray-Ward PL, Ward DC. Visualization of oligonucleotide probes and point mutations in interphase nuclei and DNA fibers using rolling circle DNA amplification. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001; 98(7): 3940–5.
- Zhou J, Sun XY, Stenzel DJ, Frazer IH. Expression of vaccinia recombinant HPV 16 L1 and L2 ORF proteins in epithelial cells is sufficient for assembly of HPV virion-like particles. Virology 1991; 185(1): 251–7.
- Zhou J, Sun XY, Davies H, Crawford L, Park D, Frazer IH. Definition of linear antigenic regions of the HPV16 L1 capsid protein using synthetic virion-like particles. Virology 1992; 189(2): 592–9.
- Zhou Y, Calciano M, Hamann S, Leamon JH, Strugnell T, Christian MW, et al. In situ detection of messenger RNA using digoxigeninlabeled oligonucleotides and rolling circle amplification. Exp Mol Pathol 2001; 70(3): 281–8.
- zur Hausen H. Condylomata acuminata and human genital cancer. Cancer Res 1976; 36(2 pt 2): 794.
- zur Hausen H. Cervical carcinoma and human papillomavirus: on the road to preventing a major human cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001; 93(4): 252–3.

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS